Public Document Pack

WOKINGHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

A Meeting of the WOKINGHAM BOROUGH WELLBEING
BOARD will be held in the Council Chamber - Civic Offices,
Shute End, Wokingham RG40 1BN on THURSDAY 11
NOVEMBER 2021 AT 5.00 PM

//W%O

Susan Parsonage
Chief Executive
Published on 3 November 2021

Note: Although non-Committee Members and members of the public are
entitled to attend the meeting in person, space is very limited due to the
ongoing Coronavirus pandemic. You can however participate in this meeting
virtually, in line with the Council’s Constitution. If you wish to participate
either in person or virtually via Microsoft Teams, please contact Democratic
Services. The meeting can also be watched live using the following link:
https://youtu.be/Biuw9nzaQdk



https://youtu.be/BiuW9nzaQdk

‘%reating Healthy & Resilient Communities

l o
g

Key Priorities




MEMBERSHIP OF THE WOKINGHAM BOROUGH WELLBEING BOARD

Charles Margetts
Debbie Milligan
Philip Bell

Carol Cammiss
Graham Ebers
Nick Fellows
John Halsall
David Hare
Graham Howe
Steve Moore
Susan Parsonage
Meradin Peachey
Matt Pope

Katie Summers
Jim Stockley

23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

28. None Specific

Wokingham Borough Council

NHS Berkshire West CGC

Voluntary Sector

Director, Children's Services

Deputy Chief Executive

Voluntary Sector

Wokingham Borough Council
Wokingham Borough Council
Wokingham Borough Council

Director, Place and Growth

Chief Executive

Director Public Health — Berkshire West
Director, Adult Social Care & Health
Director of Operations, Berkshire West CCG
Healthwatch

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 14
October 2021.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
To answer any public questions

A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of
the public to ask questions submitted under notice.

The Council welcomes questions from members of the
public about the work of this Board.

Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can
relate to general issues concerned with the work of the
Board or an item which is on the Agenda for this
meeting. For full details of the procedure for
submitting questions please contact the Democratic
Services Section on the numbers given below or go to
www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions

MEMBER QUESTION TIME
To answer any member questions

COVID UPDATE
To receive an update on Covid in the Borough.

Verbal
Report


http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

None Specific

None Specific

None Specific

None Specific

None Specific

WELLBEING BOARD STEERING GROUP
To receive an update regarding the Wellbeing Board
Steering Group.

REFRESH OF THE BERKSHIRE WEST LOCAL
TRANSFORMATION PLAN, IMPROVING THE
RESPONSE TO CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLES
EMOTIONAL WELLBEING AND MENTAL HEALTH
To receive the Refresh of the Berkshire West Local
Transformation Plan, improving the response to
Children and Young Peoples Emotional Wellbeing and
Mental Health.

BERKSHIRE SUICIDE PREVENTION STRATEGY
2021-2026

To consider the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy
2021-2026

ICP UNIFIED EXECUTIVE CHAIR’S REPORT -
OCTOBER 2021

To receive the ICP Unified Executive Chair's Report —
October 2021.

FORWARD PROGRAMME
To consider the Board’s work programme for the
remainder of the municipal year.

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any
other items to consider under this heading

Verbal
Report

11-28

29 - 66

67 - 68

69 -72



Agenda Item 24.

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
WOKINGHAM BOROUGH WELLBEING BOARD
HELD ON 14 OCTOBER 2021 FROM 5.00 PM TO 6.05 PM

Present

Charles Margetts Wokingham Borough Council

Debbie Milligan NHS Berkshire West CGC

Philip Bell Voluntary Sector

Carol Cammiss Director, Children's Services

Nick Fellows Voluntary Sector

David Hare Wokingham Borough Council

Graham Howe Wokingham Borough Council

Susan Parsonage Chief Executive

Meradin Peachey Director Public Health — Berkshire West

Matt Pope Director, Adult Social Care & Health

Katie Summers Director of Operations, Berkshire West
CCG

Jim Stockley Healthwatch

Also Present:

Madeleine Shopland Democratic and Electoral Services
Specialist

Ingrid Slade Public Health

Phil Cunnington

Laura Vicinanza Regional Public Affairs and Campaigns

Officer Alzheimer’s Society
Mark Robson Integrated Networks Development Lead

13. APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were submitted from Graham Ebers and Councillor John Halsall.

14. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Board held on 10 June 2021, were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman.

15. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.

16. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
There were no public questions.

17. MEMBER QUESTION TIME
There were no Member questions.

18. COVID UPDATE
The Board received an update on Covid.

During the discussion of this item the following points were made:



Ingrid Slade outlined the current Covid rates across Berkshire. The case rate per
100,000 population for Wokingham, for the week 1-7t" October, was 395.6. This
was on an upward trajectory, as was the case for several of the neighbouring
councils. The rate in the over 60’s was currently on its way down and was around
120.6.

Residents were living two different pandemics. There were a large number of Covid
cases in the school age population, mostly within the secondary schools. For those
without school age relatives, many were living with less restrictions. Wokingham's
Children’s Services Task Force was working closely with schools and headteachers
and were being very proactive in testing. This would help to identify further cases
and to prevent onward transmission.

Councillor Hare questioned whether cases were likely to continue to increase and
what impact winter might have. Ingrid Slade commented that the rate was currently
on an upward trajectory. Some factors may have an impact on rates going into
winter, including half term holidays and the Schools Immunisation Team going into
the secondary schools to provide Covid vaccinations.

Councillor Howe commented that 30% of children had been vaccinated and asked
what was being done to continue this. He was informed that Wokingham had the
highest uptake in vaccinations in Berkshire West in 12-15 year olds. There was a
clear vaccination programme within the secondary schools. Board members were
reminded that a vaccine could not be given within 4 weeks of a positive diagnosis.
Further work on ensuring a good vaccination offer was available for those children
who were affected by this, would be undertaken.

RESOLVED: That the update on Covid be noted.

19.

WOKINGHAM HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY INTO ACTION AND
ASSOCIATED ACTION PLANS

The Board received the Wokingham Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Associated Action

Plans.

During the discussion of this item, the following points were made:

The action plans would be reviewed annually.
Prior to the pandemic, extensive work had been undertaken across Berkshire West
regarding the development of a Berkshire West wide Health and Wellbeing
Strategy.
Ingrid Slade went on to highlight the five high level priorities identified for Berkshire
West. Work had been undertaken locally to identify how these were relevant to the
Wokingham Borough population.
Local sub priorities in Wokingham Borough were:
Priority 1- Reduce the differences in health between different groups of people -

» Cardiovascular disease

» Cancer

» Covid recovery
Priority 2 — Support individuals at high risk of bad health outcomes to live healthy
lives —
People with learning disabilities
Unpaid carers
Youth offenders
Substance misuse
Domestic abuse

YVVVYY



e Priority 3 — Help children and families in early years —
» SEND and inclusion
» Early intervention and prevention
» Safeguarding

e Priority 4 — Good mental health and wellbeing for children and young people —
» Reduce waiting time
» Covid recovery
» Prevention and early help

e Priority 5 — Good mental health and wellbeing for adults —
» Loneliness and social isolation
» Dementia
» Loneliness and social isolation Covid 19 recovery

e More partners were being brought together than under the previous Wellbeing
Strategy. The Groups that would be responsible for the delivery of each priority,
were highlighted. It was proposed that these report into the Wellbeing Board via a
Steering Group. A paper would be provided at the November Board meeting
regarding the Steering Group composition.

e Susan Parsonage asked about the reporting of the sub groups. Ingrid Slade
indicated that it was expected that each of the nine partnership groups would report
to the Steering Group on a quarterly basis, in a staggered fashion. The way in
which the update report was delivered would be standardised over time. There
would be a focus on outcomes. The Steering Group would determine exception
reporting and would report to the Wellbeing Board.

e Katie Summers questioned whether a smart delivery approach would be taken and
was informed that the action plans were for a year and would be reviewed and
amended as required going forwards.

RESOLVED: That

1) the Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy (noting the methods and
outcome of the Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy Public Consultation
included for reference) be approved;

2) Wokingham’s Health and Wellbeing: Strategy into Action including the priorities for
focus within the Borough governed by the Board be approved;

3) the proposed change to the local governance structure (page 20 of Wokingham
Health and Wellbeing Strategy into Action) be approved;

4) Wokingham’s Strategy into Action — Action Plans be noted. These plans will be
dynamic and continue to develop, they will form the basis of quarterly reporting into the
Strategy into Action Steering Group.

20. 'FROM DIAGNOSIS TO END OF LIFE: THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF
DEMENTIA CARE AND SUPPORT' ALZHEIMER'S SOCIETY REPORT AND THE
IMPLICATIONS FOR WOKINGHAM

The Board received a presentation from Laura Vicinanza, Regional Public Affairs and

Campaigns Officer Alzheimer’s Society, on ‘From diagnosis to end of life: The lived

experienced of dementia and support’ from the Alzheimer’s Society.

During the discussion of this item, the following points were made:

v



The report analysed the gaps between what care and support the current guidance
and legislation afforded people with dementia and what care and support they were
actually receiving from diagnosis until the end of life. The Alzheimer Society had
made specific recommendations to local authorities on how to address the care and
support needs of those with dementia.
The report had been researched and written prior to the pandemic.
The Alzheimer Society was pleased that supporting people living with dementia and
their carers as a group of people at high risk of bad health outcomes to live healthy
lives had been identified as a priority in the Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing
Strategy.
The report had been structured into different sections; diagnosing well; supporting
well; living well; and dying well.
Laura Vicinanza highlighted how evidence had been gathered.
A key theme across all stages of the pathway was a sense of disjointed and
fragmented care.
Examples of best practice had also been included within the report.
Diagnosing well — The Board noted key findings with regards to diagnosing well.
Recommendations around this area included:
» CCGs to have a dedicated dementia lead to train GPs on referral criteria and
diagnosis;
» Multidisciplinary team meetings between memory service clinicians, neurology
and neuroradiology;
» Clear referral pathways to enable access to Allied Health Professionals;
» Memory services to include dementia adviser services, with people
automatically referred to the service unless they opted out;
» Access to follow-up opportunities to discuss diagnosis.
Nationally, diagnosis rates had decreased during the pandemic. Referrals from
primary care to the Memory Services had also decreased. A backlog in
assessments would worsen wait times.
People needed to be able to access their GP, face-to-face, to discuss concerns with
cognitive impairment or memory. In addition, Secondary care specialist diagnostic
services needed sufficient workforce and resources to cope with the current and
expected backlog of appointments.
Supporting well - The Board noted key findings with regards to supporting well.
Recommendations around this area included:
> All people should have a named care coordinator;
» Appropriate and tailored post-diagnostic support interventions for people with
dementia and their carers;
> Integration of dementia adviser services within primary care;
» Clear local responsibility for advance care planning.
Living well — The Board noted key findings with regards to living well.
Recommendations around this area included:
» Straightforward methods of booking day care and overnight care in advance;
» Accessible lists of recommended local respite care services;
» Care homes to have enhanced access to professionals through local
multidisciplinary teams;
» All professionals trained to at least Tier 2 of the Dementia Training Standards
Framework.
The pandemic had had an impact on those with dementia. A deterioration in mental
health and cognitive decline had been seen, due to restrictions around social
contact, particularly for those living in care homes. In addition, the numbers of
people receiving care plans or care plan reviews over the last year had decreased.

8



The pandemic had exacerbated many issues that carers had already been facing.
During the pandemic many carers had reported that their caring responsibilities had
significantly increased during lockdown.
Dying well — The Board noted key findings with regards to dying well.
Recommendations around this area included:
» Manage hospitalisations through integrating services, upskilling care home
staff and increasing access to out-of-hours specialist support;
» Local multidisciplinary teams should be formed to assist local care homes,
and include palliative care teams;
» Local services should be set up to ensure that professionals involved in end-
of-life care can easily and quickly access advance care plans.
Councillor Hare asked about support for carers, particularly during the early stages
of a loved one receiving a dementia diagnosis. He went on to comment that it was
good for carers to be able to take respite. Many felt guilty about taking time away
from their loved one. Laura Vicinanza emphasised that carers needed to be
supported so that they could understand how to deal with dementia. She agreed
that taking respite was important for carers and that if they did not have access, it
could have a very negative impact on the carer.
Matt Pope indicated that Laura Vicinanza had had discussions regarding the report
recommendations with officers and these would be incorporated in the dementia
workstream. Work was being undertaken regarding the formation of a dementia
alliance across the Borough.
Katie Summers stated that the CCG had done a lot of dedicated training around
dementia for GPs but that this could be reaffirmed. Multi-disciplinary meetings were
already in place but that Memory Service clinicians could be incorporated. She
went on to state that the Memory Service already included Dementia Advisors.
Katie Summers questioned whether the report had been shared with Berkshire
Healthcare Foundation Trust and Royal Berkshire Healthcare Trust as major
clinicians and was informed that it had been presented to the Health and Wellbeing
Boards. Katie Summers commented that the Royal Berkshire Hospital was looking
at their clinical services strategy and it was a good opportunity to shape how the
major local providers took forwards the recommendations from the report.
Dr Milligan outlined some of the measures already in place around dementia. She
emphasised the importance of the voluntary sector.

RESOLVED: That the presentation on From diagnosis to end of life: The lived
experienced of dementia and support’ from the Alzheimer’s Society, be noted and Laura
Vicinanza be thanked for her presentation.

21.

ICP UNITED EXECUTIVE CHAIR'S REPORT

The Board considered the ICP United Executive Chair’'s Report.

During the discussion of this item, the following points were made:

Matt Pope commented that the update was a means of keeping the Board up to
date with the Integrated Care Partnership Board to ensure a read across between
the two.

Matt Pope suggested that an overview of the Board and its priorities be provided at
the next Board meeting. Katie Summers suggested a workshop would be helpful.
It was noted that the report was out of date because the agenda had been carried
forward from the previous meeting which had had to be cancelled.

9



e Meradin Peachy commented that discussions had been had about the Berkshire
West Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the governance between the ICP and

Wokingham regarding the strategy.

RESOLVED: That the ICP United Executive Chair's Report be noted.

22. FORWARD PROGRAMME
The Board discussed the forward programme for the remainder of the municipal year.

RESOLVED: That the forward programme be noted.

10



Agenm 30.

‘ Agenda ltem:

Meeting: Health and Wellbeing Boards (Reading and Wokingham)

Date September 2021

Refresh of the Berkshire West Local Transformation Plan,
Title of Paper improving the response to Children and Young Peoples Emotional
Wellbeing and Mental Health

Lead Director Niki Cartwright — Director of Joint Commissioning

Berkshire West CCG

Author(s) Andy Fitton — Assistant Director for Joint Commissioning
Berkshire West CCG

Paper Type To update for information

Action Required | None

Executive Summary

This report provides an overview of the refreshed Future in Mind Local Transformation
Plan (LTP), the sixth such publication of our planning locally since 2015.

The LTP provides an update on how as a local system we are improving the emotional
wellbeing and mental health of all Children and Young People (CYP) across Reading,
West Berkshire, and Wokingham in line with the national ambition and principles set
out in a range of government documents and most recently in the NHS 10-year Long
Term Plan.

It has been a very busy time since the 2019 publication, delivering our transformation
plan as well as responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. We are proud of what we have
been able to achieve alongside young people, parents and our strategic partners from
the local authority, health, education, and the voluntary sector. What follows are
headline messages for this year.

e We are proud about the choice of provision we commission and provide. That
includes the establishment of 3 Mental health Support teams in our 3 Local
Authority settings who have worked with 872 CYP since starting, mainly for help
with anxiety.

e We continue to increase the access and use of mental health services against a
backdrop of increasing demand and complexity. All our providers are now flowing
data onto the national dataset, and we consistently meet the national target.

e Our range of strong outcomes reporting are evidencing that many children and
young people have positive outcomes across providers.

¢ We can evidence the impact of large-scale training across partners. A highlight is
the successful implementation of the Trauma Informed/ adverse childhood

Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21

Page 1 of 17

11

Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group



NHS

experiences training, at School and a community level that has expanded rapidly,
and in Reading this has impact significantly on reducing exclusion from school.

e A significant system review of the emotional wellbeing and mental health offer has
been completed that significantly impacting on the forming of the 9 transformation
priorities. Key headline from that review are:

o We can evidence that most children and young people feel listened to
across providers.

o We need to coordinate information about our offer for help and simply the
access points

o CYP and families do get the help they need when they navigate the offer
and receive a set of interventions.

o Need to tackle waiting times and provide more bridging support whilst
waiting

e BHFT and Berks West CCG have completed a review of Neurodiversity needs
that identified trends of demand and necessary capacity to meet that demand. We
continue to need to manage significant number of children and young people
seeking autism and ADHD assessments in Berkshire West that in turn is affecting
waiting times, and consequently remains a high priority. Significant investment
has been agreed over the next 2 financial years enabling BHFT to recruit new
staff and broker a longer-term deal with national digital providers of assessments
that will support the ambition of bringing wait times for all CYP to be below 12
months, as a maximum wait time.

e 2 significant system joint transformation programmes have been brought to
conclusion:

o Children in Care service offer has been co-produced with CYP, Local
Authorities and BHFT, the offer is agreed and jointly funded by CCG and
LAs. This progress is signalling a strategic shift for our partnership that will
form a strong basis of work into the future.

o An intensive community and home treatment offer that will build off and
integrate with the existing Rapid Response offer.

e BHFT have transformed their tier 4 offer, taking the existing 9 bed Willow house
inpatient offer and re-created a hospital at home offer for 16 CYP, taking best
practise from intensive community models that are demonstrating success
elsewhere in the country. CYP will continue to be able to access inpatient units
in the Thames Valley region, and this will be an alternative that will provide 7-day
specialist support, whilst still being at home, remaining in their community and
with peers.

The partnership between the NHS, Local Authorities and voluntary sector providers
remains as strong as ever. However there does remain challenges in this area that
COVID-19 has impacted:

There continues to be increased demand which in turn is having an impact on waiting
times, across providers. The impact of COVID-19 has increased demand across all
emotional health and wellbeing services, as an example the highest rate of referral to
our specialist CAMHSs provider was seen in the March 202, as school lockdown were
easing.

In addition to increased demand within the demand there is increased complexity of
presentations. Notable is the increased in risk management for LD&A CYP and

Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21

Page 2 of 17
12

Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group



NHS

disorder eating/ eating disorder presentations that is impacting the time on RBFT wards
as well as need for inpatient admissions.

Availability of suitable skilled, qualified and experienced health workforce. There are
recruitment and retention challenges for many parts of the wider children’s workforce
e.g. social care. Difficulty in recruitment and retention of clinical workforce within our main
provider fuelled by:

e High system and regional competition for same pool of workforce

e Lack of national planning and investment in training next workforce — not matching

the LTP investment programme
e Cost of living in SE (and London weighing salary offer)

Over the last 18 months there is a consolidation of the joint governance arrangement
across the health, social care, and education system, with the formation of the
Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) CYP board. This has strengthened the resolve to
improve the offer and outcomes of local CYP’s mental health. This sponsorship and
leadership have created a single focus against 9 transformational priorities
underpinned by financial investment from across the system. The detail is on page 4 -6
of this report.

A programme architecture has been set up to govern and drive our progress going
forward, led by the CCG and overseen by the ICP CYP board — the detail is on page Y.
This will enable regular updates as needed.

Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21

Page 3 of 17

13

Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group



NHS

Summary of Transformation Priorities

1 Building a This partnership will deliver:

formal e A single access and decision-making point that all
delivery delivery aligns too (see point 2 below)

partnership e A joint communication approach and set of tools that
arrangement explains to CYP, parent and carers, schools, and

primary care colleagues how to access support and the
type of response and offer they can expect
e A joint workforce development programme that creates
both a confident and knowledgeable wider CYP
workforce in mental health as well as a robust and
sustainable mental health workforce to deliver the
services CYP needs.
Evidence from other alliances across the county they are
seeing:
e Improved use of resources, avoiding duplication of offer
e Greater communication and clarity of offer to CYP,
families and professionals that are asking for help
e Greater use of the Voluntary sector and third sector
partners that become even more integral to the offer
e Satisfaction rates of access to and use of services from
CYP and families increase

2 Create a This seeks to align and integrate the variety of access points
single access for CYP, families and professionals to improve first and earlier
and decision- response and manage risk better. By achieving this we are

making expecting this to have a 3-FOLD impact:
partnership e Animproved experience of key stakeholders in knowing
arrangement where and how to access help and support. This will

lead to coordinated communication and ensuring an
appropriate set of offers within a Thrive approach is
made, enabling choice.

e The potential for a more efficient system across two
domains:

o reducing the individual organisation capacity
currently being used to manage the range of
access points,

o improving the response time through a
coordinated decision-making offer should lead
ultimately to shortened waiting time to access an
intervention to have an impact.

e Greater opportunities for an earlier and more
coordinated response across the range of partners to
presenting CYP needs, preventing escalation of risk or
being able to recognise risk earlier and providing the
necessary specialist support.

Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21

Page 4 of 17
14

Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group



NHS

3 Tackling the The NHS has agreed an investment programme for 20/21 of
waiting times over £2million to Improvement in waiting times from referral to
in both intervention; improvement in recovery rates, decrease in overall
specialist/ crisis presentations. Increased confidence with early
Core CAMHs identification and risk management and confidence on the

ward.

4 Meeting the  Although there continues to be slow progress towards meet the
Eating waiting time standard for both urgent and routine referrals this
Disorder has been hampered by the increase again in volume and
waiting times complexity of eating disorder cases.
for response Further work on the liaison and support work inside RBFT
to referrals  wards for specific CYP with ED whilst they stabilise ready for

discharge or wait for an inpatient bed elsewhere
The building of the hospital at home offer (the reshaping of the
Willow House service) in Berkshire will support main escalating
and higher need CYP.
In addition to our recovery work, it is intended to invest more
capacity into early identification work, that seeks to reduce the
number of ‘urgent’ cases being referred. (Balance of urgent to
routine). The key strands of this work are:
e To deliver the range of BEAT training to primary care
and acute settings in Berkshire.
e To enable our MHST, School nurses and other early
intervention services to work with schools and families to
seek help appropriately as possible.

5 Mobilisinga By March 2023 there will be a new and integrated home and
Community  community treatment offer that will be offering the brief 6 to 10-

Home week service to stabilise CYP post crisis and prevent further
treatment crisis presentations. The offer will be multi-professional
offer 24/7 including the ability to offer low, medium and high levels
access support that will at its maximum will be offering daily (inc

standard for weekend) support to families. Importantly we will offering a
Crisis cases range of interventions from clinical and medical through to peer
and family support.
We are seeking support from our LA partners to contribute to
this investment.

6 Mobilising 2 Building from the successfully implementation of 3 MHSTs (one
further Mental in each Local Authority) BW CCG has secured the resource to

Health establish 2 more teams. Using the same model of delivery and
Support provider, the Local Authorities, a team will be set up in Reading
Teams (in the South and East school cluster) and West Berkshire (in

the Newbury area). Work has started to mobilise the service
already and it will be fully available by Sept 2023.

7 Meeting the Following the learning of the initial lockdown period There will
COVID-19 be an operational group set up to create space for sharing and
surge demand response within a ‘BW Partnership Operational Meeting’ to
as it arises meet emerging operational pressures. This will be seeking to

Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21

Page 5 of 17

15

Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group



NHS

heightened collaboration, sharing of resources as necessary
and agreeing on where short term investment could be placed
if a surge is being experienced.

8 Addressing Three inequality areas have been identified and separate but

gaps in aligned work needs to be initiated in each area. It is:

access and e Ethnic minority groups - With the high proportion of
service offer ethnic minority CYP in our schools we need to review
due to the current access of these CYP. Then working with
inequalities relevant organisations and leaders co-produce an action

plan to raise the profile and access arrangements for
these CYP and their families to help and support.

e Learning Disability - We need to scope the level of need
not be met through our existing service arrangements,
review other examples of targeted support to this cohort
of CYP and working with the LDA initiatives (e.g. key
workers and a intensive support service) propose the
service offers we need to augment or set up fresh to
meet this need

e LGBTQ+ - With growing numbers of CYP in the
LGBTQ+ community we need to work with the relevant
organisations and leaders co-produce an action plan to
raise the profile and access arrangements for these CYP
and their families to help and support.

9 Strengthening Using the investment money available focus on 2 initiatives to

our support transformation in this area:

adolescent to e Pilot a ‘Managing Emotions Programme’ that is a
young programme of psychoeducational courses designed to
adulthood support people who experience intense emotions that
offer (16 — 25) they find difficult to manage and which can have a

negative impact on their quality of life. This will be
delivered in partnership with a local VCS aiming to offer
as response to the volume of referrals noted in the CPE
from young adults seeking support to manage emotions
related to life changes and uncertainty.

e Working through the community mental health
framework implementation model test how to target and
meet mental health needs of care leavers.

Governance to drive forward our transformation plan— both Berkshire West
and BOB

Fundamental to the success of our transformation programme is robust local,
Berkshire West, and BOB (ICS) governance arrangements.

Berkshire West has an Integrated Care Partnership well established now that covers
the NHS and Local Authority network of key partners. Within the last 18 months a
specific Children and Young People’s programme board has been created and
currently lead by a local Director of Children’s Services providing a focused time 8
times a year for support and challenge to this LTP implementation. This programme

Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21

Page 6 of 17

16

Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group



NHS

board will be the key location of accountability for the 9 transformation priorities
ensuring they are making the impact needed. Further to this specific CYP board
accountability our BW ICP unified exec has selected CYP MH as a flagship priority
increasing both the transparency and accountability of this programme to the highest
corporate officer level within the key delivery agents of improvement.

As our Integrated Care System matures there is connectivity and governance
arrangements being created for CYP Mental Health. Currently a Mental Health and
Learning Disability Oversight group has been established in the last 18 months that
includes the CYP mental health agenda. There are 3 key areas of work for this board:
e To scrutinise and assure the Long-Term Plan metrics as well as receive
narrative update from our ICS Snr Responsible Officer (SRO) for CYP mental
health
e |Issues are flagged by exception and very snr leaders in our ICS are available
to support mitigating actions.
e Key decisions are filtered to be taken at the BOB ICS level regarding allocation
of resources

The appendix provides a range of additional/ supportive information:
Appendix A — the governance arrangements for this transformation plan (page (8)

Appendix B — the key metrics that the NHS is tracking linked to CYP from its long-
term plan (page 9)

Appendix C — an outline of the headlines from our Key community mental health
provider (BHFT) annual report 2020/21 providing information on:

e Referrals and waiting lists, including focus on urgent referrals

e Focus on two areas of support providing ‘getting help’ and ‘risk support’

e Outcomes of the offer
(Pages 10 — 14)

Appendix D — Showcasing the success of our Mental Health Support Team in
Berkshire West with evidence of their access, outcome as well as the building of the
confidence and capacity inside targeted schools. (Pages 15 & 16)

Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21

Page 7 of 17

17

Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group



8T

Appendix A - CYP MH & EWB Transformation Executive Delivery Group Governance Structure

Local Authorities
Executives and Health Royal Berkshire Berkshire Healthcare Reading 8 West
& Wellbeing Boards Barkshire West CCG BOB Governance Foundation Trust Foundation Trust Berkshira Key
{Wast Berkshire, Govemance Structure Management and Management and Management and Green = Related governance
Wokingham & Governance GOVemance Governance Structures White = Main governance route
Realfing] through the Berkshire West /€5,
1 | Light blue = Transfoermation Priority
i ! EBlue = NHS E/)
| '[ Orange = Working group
ICP Leadership Group
Tackling the waiting
times in bath
ICP Unified Executive specialisty Core CAMHS
™,
Mobilising a
. Community Home
ICP Children and Young | treatment offer2a/7 | BHFT Delivery Groups
People Programme e access standard for
Board T Crisis tases
-
o
| ~ -
children and Young ___,--’"-)
’ Meeting the Eating
Disorder waiting times | |
for response to
referrals
MHST WAVE 5 Project
B Board
e Single access and Addressing gaps in strengthening our -
Baild formal
. - decision-making accass and service adolescent to young i e MHST [sat up 2 new
delivery partnership i surge demand as it sites)
— = partnership offer due to adulthood offer (16— ises [tied to 3 £5)
arrangement inequalities 25)
Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21
Page 8 of 17
Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire Berkshire West
Clinical Commissioning Group

Clinical Commissioning Group

Clinical Commissioning Group



NHS

Appendix B - Performance Dashboard Local Transformation Plan (Sept 21)

treatment. Linked to NHS 111

Latest
. . BOB Berks West
el UL b 0 SlElele E:&I'Shed This month (Last Month) This month (Last Month)
CYP Access Rate % (2+ contacts) NA May-21 56.3% (53.2%) 47.1% (43.5%)
CYP Access (2+ contacts NA May-21 15380 (14525) 4240 (3920)
CYP Access rate (1+ contacts) NA May-21 19985 (19485) 6110 (5835)
CYP ED Waits urgent (quarterly) >95% Jun-21
iR CYP ED Waits routine (quarterly) >95% Jun-21
P 25%
[
Mental Health Support Teams coverage | Aug-21 NA ?ezaﬁ]s from 3
minimum
Berkshire west has:
Access to crisis help via NHS 111 established with CYP
24/7 Crisis support on offer includes practitioners available 8am to 10pm every day for CYP and
assessment, brief response & home | NA Aug 21 families.

Initial assessment and brief response is available 7 days a week
via the Rapid Response Service.
Home treatment service will be available by March 2022.

Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21

Buckinghamshire

Clinical Commissioning Group

Oxfordshire

Clinical Commissioning Group

Page 9 of 17

Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group



0c¢

NHS

Appendix C - Berkshire Healthcare CAMHS Year end report West CCG, FY 2020/2021

Our Service

In FY 2020-2021, CAMHS Berkshire West Senvice:

NHS

Berkshire Healthcare
Children, Young People and
Families services

» Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust CAMH Senvices

Received 4,090 new referralsfll Offered over 21,229 contacts in Berkshire West:

. Q
DLl DAl Signposted 1,756 referrals
health assessments
Monthly average of 1,598 young
people on caseloads

00000000

l»‘ﬁ&h re

Locality-based Specialist Community Teams
Anxiety and Depression Team (county -wide)
Primary CAMHS Senice Wokingham LA

All-age Eating Disorder Senvice (county -wide)
Rapid Response senvice (county -wide)

Health & Justice Senice & Children in Care worker
Tier 4 senvice (TV Provider Collaborative)

And our Common Point of Entry senice

The Trust also deliver Neurodiversity Services however these are not included in this report.

Source: Population Statistics Division, Office for National Statistics, 2018

Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21

Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire

e . g e =

Page 10 of 17

Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group



X4

NHS

Following an initial reduction in referrals as the country went into the first national lockdown, total referrals increased by 6% in 2020/21
compared to 2019/20. This is in line with the national benchmarking data and follows a trend of increased demand totalling 40% since
2014/15.

Referrals and Waiting Lists

CAMHS Berkshire West FY2020-2021

550 550
500
450
400

Re-opening

ofschoos & PG L e === Re-opening 400

of schools

o | N, e == 350 2
zZ.,, 00 e mmm=XR--T T E
Ul R m 300 Z
w250 national 250
) - N 5

200 200 w

o

150 150

15(
100 national 100
50 lockdown 50
0 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T 0
Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21

Urgent referrals

There has been a significant increase in the number of referrals coded as URGENT by the referrer, up to 15% in 2020/21 compared to
only 1.7% in 2019/20. Note that this data is for mental health referrals to CAMHS CPE and does not include crisis referrals to the
CAMHS Rapid Response team or referrals to the Neurodiversity teams.

Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21

Page 11 of 17

Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group



44

Getting More Help

Under supervision of specialist Early Help CAMHS

[ Early Help Service
Common Point of Entry
Low intensity - triage referrals,
provision of self-help, information
and guidance

Health

Community/ ]
provider-led

school-led

N

2, .

Delivered by specialist CAMHS

Adapted from THRIVE elaborated framework (Wolpert, M., Harris, R., Hodges, S., Fuggle, P., James, R., Wiener,
A., McKenna, C,, Law, D., York, A., Jones, M. and Fonagy, P. (2015) THRIVE elaborated) & Charlie Waller
Memorial Trust (www.cwmt.org.uk)

LS

Berkshire Healthcare
Children, Young People and
Families services

All the CAMHS services providing more help have seen an increase in both the numbers and complexity of
referrals over the last year.

An area of particular concern is that of eating disorders. A surge in the numbers of young people developing an
eating disorder or complex disordered eating difficulties was seen nationally over the last year and the situation
in Berkshire was no different.

Total referrals to BEDS CYP increased by 34.5% on the previous year with the number of referrals from Berkshire
West rising by 31%.

This trend has continued with BEDS CYP referrals up by a further 40.4% YTD in CAMHS Berkshire West on the
same period last year.

In addition to the increase in number of referrals, we have seen a rise in the number of urgent referrals, with
significant numbers identified as at immediate physical risk and needing acute refeeding at the point of referral.

Referrals to BEDS CYP - Berkshire West

18

16

14

12

10

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

FY19/20 — FY20/21 e Linear (FY19/20) «ceceeeee Linear (FY20/21)

e e T R T e e ST e e, e e
Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21

Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire

Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group

e

Page 12 of 17

Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group



ec

Getting Risk Support
g PP NHS

Berkshire Healthcare
Children, Young People and
Families services

Under supervision of specialist Early Help CAMHS

Referrals to CAMHS Rapid Response - Berkshire West

70
60
50
40

Community/ Health
school-led : > provider-led 30
by

20

10

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

FY20/21  emmmm FY19/20  teveeeens Linear (FY20/21)  «veeveees Linear (FY19/20)

Providing robust support for children and young people in crisis has been critical over the last year.

Multi- ¥ — - ‘ Referrals to the CAMHS Rapid Response team dropped at the beginning of the first lock down but have
agency ! been higher than usual most months since then and for Berkshire West, up by 23.5% on 2019/20. This
trend looks set to continue with referrals up a further 21.3% YTD.

All CAMHS teams have continued to provide face to face care throughout the last year but this has been
particularly important for the CAMHS RRT.

A key priority was also to minimise demand on and ‘footfall’ through the emergency department and
acute paediatrics.

Delivered by specialist CAMHS At the beginning of the first lockdown, the team implemented new systems to enable digital triage and
diversion of patients to community sites for assessment where safe to do so.

Adapted from THRIVE elaborated framework (Wolpert, M., Harris, R., Hodges, S, Fuggle, P., James, R, Wiener, A CAMHS service was also put in place under NHS111 and the service operating hours extended to cover
A., McKenna, C., Law, D., York, A., Jones, M. and Fonagy, P. (2015) THRIVE elaborated) & Charlie Waller

Memorial Trust (www.cwmt.org.uk) Sundays and up to 10pm every evening.
= ‘_-f—__ ——
Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21
Page 13 of 17
Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group



v

Outcomes

The service uses a wide range of measures covering symptoms,
functioning, bespoke goals, and service/session feedback,
collecting information from different perspectives, i.e. children
and their parents or carers.

Our outcome data shows that:

Q0 67% of young people made reliable improvement on
the Revised Children’s Anxiety & Depression Scale
(RCADS) ReliableChange Index compared to 52% for the rest
of CORC.

0 88% of childrenand young people felt they moved closer to
their goals (Goal Based Outcomes) compared to 86% in the
rest of CORC dataset.

U 71% of scores using the Child Outcome Rating Scale (CORS)
improved, compared to 66% (268/408) in the rest of CORC
sample.

O Child & Parent Experience of Service Questionnaire
responses were broadly in line with those for the rest of
CORC.

Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21

Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire

Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group

NHS

NHS |

Berkshire Healthcare
Children, Young People and
Families services

Improving outcome measures recording is a priority for the service
in 2021/22.

Teams with clearly defined clinical care pathways (Anxiety &
Depression, Eating Disorders) have high levels of ROMS use, with
paired data scores higher than the rest of CORC.

There isroom for improvement in other areas of serviceand overall,
the serviceis recording lower numbers of paired data than the rest
of CORC.

Outcome measures are included within all clinical pathways and
have now been built into the RiO electronic record system to enable
data to flow to the MHSDS.

New ePathways will provide tools to support clinicians to use ROMS
in individual clinical care.

AClinical Lead with responsibility ROMS is using Ql methodology to
monitor use and identify areas and action for improvement.

Page 14 of 17

Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group



GZ

NHS

Appendix D - Mental Health Support Team in Berkshire West — showcasing our success

With 3 operational MHSTS, one based in each local authority area serving a cluster school, there are initial signs of success that are worth
acknowledging. The headlines across the 3 teams are:
Currently we are working with 49 school, a cross section of Primary and Secondary setting.
MHST staff organise and run Mental health surgeries for MHST schools. For example, West Berkshire held 134 such meetings that spoke
about 512 pupils, giving advice on how to support their mental health or agreeing actions to provide interventions to meet their needs.
Example feedback from schools regarding MH Surgeries:
e ‘It was extremely useful to meet to discuss individual students and the best way they should be supported.”
e ‘It has been extremely useful to discuss children we are concerned about with professionals with wider experience and knowledge than we
have. Sometimes just the explanation of what we observe highlights the next steps for us.
e “Professional advice for children we feel we’ve exhausted all avenues gives us confidence that we are doing the right things a lot of
the time. Good to regularly touch base about cases making sure no one drops off the radar (even if things are going well). Nice

that the EP is in contact with other schools- good to hear what they are doing and if any room for collaboration”

872 CYP have been referred to the MHST over the last 18 months. the significant majority, over 60% are referred primarily for concerns
over their anxiety levels.
90%+ of these CYP are offered an intervention, all are evidenced based, and interventions include group work (e.g. friends for life,
Overcoming) as well 1:1 work (e.g. behaviour activation, CBT)
Not all complete the interventions but all MHSTSs in the last 6 months now have developed strong outcomes data on the CYP that do
complete their intervention. For example, Reading in QL1 this year can report per CYP the pre and post scores on RCAD improvements as
well as pre and post. Producing results such as:

o Separation Anxiety Score decreased on average by 4.9%
Social Phobia Score decreased on average by 4.4%
Panic Score decreased on average by 7.8%
Major Depression Score decreased on average by 4.7%
Generalised Anxiety Score decreased on average by 6.3%

Obsessive Compulsive Score decreased on average by 7.2%

O O O O O

West Berks have a range of case narratives, some examples below that outline the outcomes they are achieving.

Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21

Page 15 of 17

Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group



9¢

NHS

16yo boy presenting with anxiety around vomiting and low mood also evident. Health related worries were identified and CBT)
particularly cognitive restructuring) and some ACT based strategies were utilised. Parent sessions supported work around
reassurance giving and also scaffolding outside of sessions. ESQ and RCADS highlight improvements in symptoms but also quality
of life.

9yo — CYP presented with difficulties around separating from parent, interpersonal challenges and emotions dysregulation, (namely
following father’s death by suicide). Attachment based intervention was offered — intervention with parent (mother) and child initially,
but also offering consultations to school and setting up TAC with other organisations involved in the families care to ensure needs
are being met appropriately. Continued sessions over lockdown via Zoom. Mother is feeling more confident in her skills to implement
strategies, improve communication and explore changes in her relationship with her daughter given the loss. In turn CYP is also
better able to manage emotions and relational challenges. The intervention also encouraged Relationship building with school and
parent.

17 year old female referred via CAMHS due to low mood which she says was as a result of anxiety which she was unable to get
help with. Counselling over 12 weeks worked successfully using a variety of integrative approaches. Given the strained relationship
with her mother, it seemed that the reparative part of the therapy worked successfully with this client and her mood lifted by the end
of our sessions. RCADS and core form showed this impact.

All 3 MHSTs are now regularly collating and using service user feedback. This is supported by annual peer audits to give qualitative
information or performance and impact. 2 examples of feedback below:

“l find it very easy to talk to [the EMHP], she has a lovely manner about her, she listens really well, and never gives the impression
she’s judging.... | found everything useful. It’s great that she [the EMHP] reminds [the YP] that he can talk to me about anything
and should never feel alone, or afraid to tell me anything that’s going on in his head...l am finding the sessions very helpful”

“It was really difficult for me to talk about the things/issues | have been and still am going through with my child as | have been
keeping it bottled up for a long time, but [the EMHP] made me feel relaxed and once | started talking, / didn’t stop

Finally, MHST’s have been providing a range of training into schools and across clusters of schools. 3 examples are outlined below.

Online training for ELSASs on supporting c/yp’s return to school. 10 delegates attended and rated this training as useful (mean: 9/10,
where 10 indicated highly useful) and informative (mean: 9/10, where 10 indicated highly informative)

Online training to support c/yp with worries and anxiety to MHST school staff. 4 delegates attended the first session and rated that:
they felt heard, understood and accepted during the training (mean: 9.75/10, where 10 indicated highly heard, understood and

Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21

Page 16 of 17

Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group



Ll

NHS

accepted); the training discussed what the delegates wanted (mean: 9, where 10 indicates that the training covered what the
delegates wanted); the training was a good fit for them (mean: 9, where 10 indicates that the training was a good fit).
- Online training for MHST school staff about how to support c/yp’s transition to secondary school.

Date: 20.11.21
Filename: Local Transformation Plan refresh Sept 21

Page 17 of 17

Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical Commissioning Group



This page is intentionally left blank



TITLE

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

WARD

DIRECTOR/ KEY OFFICER

Agenda ltem 31.

Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2021-2026

Wokingham Borough Wellbeing Board on Thursday 11th Novembel
November 2021

None Specific;
Matt Pope, Director of Adult Services, Ingrid Slade,

Consultant of Public Health, Wokingham Borough
Council

Health and Wellbeing
Strategy priority/priorities
most progressed through
the report

This meets the below priorities in the Wokingham Strategy
into Action and the Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing
Strategy:

1) Reduce the difference in health between different
groups of people.

2) Support individuals at high risk of bad health outcomes.
4) Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all
children and young people.

5) Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all adults.

Key outcomes achieved
against the Strategy
priority/priorities

The strategy directly meets this aim through the vision “To
reduce deaths by suicide in Berkshire across the life
course and ensure better knowledge and action around
self-harm”.

Reason for consideration
by Wokingham Borough
Wellbeing Board

To review and approve the Berkshire Suicide Prevention
Strategy 2021-2026

What (if any) public
engagement has been
carried out?

Whilst there has been no formal public consultation, as
was done previously, this strategy has a local focus and
contains the perspectives from professionals working in
the statutory, private and third sector organisations.
Colleagues who support people who have been directly
affected by suicide have also been involved, who we have
worked with sensitively to engage this group with this
strategy.

State the financial
implications of the decision

None

RECOMMENDATION

That the Wokingham Borough Wellbeing Board adopt the Berkshire Suicide Prevention

Strategy 2021-2026.

29



SUMMARY OF REPORT

The Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2017-2020 is now out of date. This report
presents an update on the refreshed Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy that will cover
the next five years, 2021-26. This is annexed as Appendix A.

Introduction/Background

Following publication of the National Suicide Prevention Strategy in 2021, Preventing
Suicide in England, a cross government strategy to save lives (HM Government, 2021),
councils were given the responsibility of developing local suicide prevention strategies
and action plans through their work with the Health and Wellbeing Strategy Boards,
Clinical Commissioning Groups and wider partners.

The national strategy stresses the importance of engaging with a wide network of
stakeholders to develop and deliver these strategies and plans to reduce suicide.
Locally this takes the form of the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group, guided
by the Suicide Prevention Strategy.

This strategy has been developed through the work of the Berkshire Suicide Prevention
Steering Group that has a range of representation of partners across the system, and is
founded upon local data, intelligence and knowledge. Representation from Wokingham
includes: Public Health, Wokingham Borough Council, Strategy and Commissioning,
Wokingham Borough Council, NHS Wokingham CCG, Survivors of Bereavement by
Suicide, Wokingham.

Supporting Information

This strategy builds on the previous Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy (2017-2020),
and serves as refresh of that strategy, where we take forward the key underlying
principles addressed in the former strategy and have updated it with new priorities.

The vision for this strategy is; “To reduced deaths by suicide in Berkshire across the life
course and ensure better knowledge and action around self-harm”.

The strategy has been developed by the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group,
who have worked together to identify key priority areas, derived from local data
intelligence, trends and action. A small subgroup of the Berkshire Suicide Prevention
Steering Group was responsible for further defining the content for each of the priorities
and providing regular updates to and receiving feedback from the main steering group.

The priorities of the national suicide prevention strategy (2012), and subsequent
progress reports are the guiding principles to how we work to prevent suicide across
Berkshire.

Rates of suicide across Berkshire have remained relatively stable over the past 20
years. In 2017-19 (the most recent data available), rates were highest in Reading and
West Berkshire and were lowest in Wokingham. Rates in Wokingham are consistently
below the regional and national averages, Rates increased nationally between 2018 and
2019 however, they remained the same in Wokingham.

In 2020, the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Group conducted an analysis of deaths from
suicide amongst young people aged less than 25 for deaths occurring between March
2015 and 2020. Information was drawn from the Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP),

30




Berkshire Healthcare Foundation Trust, Thames Valley Police, and the Coroner’s Office.
A total sample of 35 young people were included in analysis. Key findings of the audit
are highlighted below with an acknowledgement that caution needs to be given when
deriving patterns from a relatively small sample size.

. Females over-represented by comparison with national data with an almost equal
gender split in deaths amongst the older, 20 to 25-year-old age group

. Age profile does not align with national picture of a steady rise from the late
teens/early twenties, but indicates local peaks in the 15-19 and mid 20s age ranges

. Data on faith, gender identity and sexuality were found difficult to source and is
identified as a gap required to inform targeted prevention

. Adverse childhood experiences — including domestic abuse, parental separation,

involvement with criminal justice and poverty were noted in most cases for which this
data was available

. Neurodiversity was an additional apparent risk factor in most cases for which this
information was available leading to a recommendation for further future analysis of the
impact of waiting for an autism assessment

In addition, the Berkshire Suicide Audit (2014-2018) identified additional risk factors for
suicide in the local population. It found that 21% of people who died by suicide had a
history of self-harm and previous self- harm is flagged in local Real Time Surveillance
Systems (RTSS) data as a feature in the relevant medical history of those who have
died.

Economic factors, particularly unemployment have been shown as strong risk factors of
suicide. Locally, data from the 2014/15 to 2017/18 Berkshire Suicide Audit showed that
between 2007 and 2018, the percentage of suicides that were amongst people who
were unemployed ranged from 11% to 38%. If we consider this against the fact that 4%
of the overall population in Berkshire are unemployed, then people who are unemployed
are over-represented in the number of suicides in Berkshire.

Bereavement by suicide can be particularly devasting to the lives of those around the
person who has died. People bereaved by suicide are at a greater risk of suicide
themselves. Bereavement by suicide was highlight in 6% of subsequent suicides in the
Berkshire Suicide Audit (2018).

Our local intelligence has demonstrated a need to focus on the following five core
priority areas;

1. Children and Young People

2 Self-harm

3. Females

4. Economic stresses

5 People bereaved by suicide

Whilst these are the agreed strategic priorities, based on best available data, there will
remain a need to monitor trends and risk factors, particularly from the impacts of Covid-
19 and to respond to latest changes.

The strategy will contribute to the majority of priorities of the Wokingham Strategy into
Action Plan (and Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy);

Priority 1 - Reduce the difference in health between different groups of people

31




Priority 2 - Support individuals at high risk of bad health outcomes.
Priority 4 - Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all children and young people.
Priority 5 - Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all

The strategy directly meets this aim through the vision “To reduce deaths by suicide in
Berkshire across the life course and ensure better knowledge and action around self-
harm”.

Analysis of Issues, including any financial implications
There are no financial implications to the report presented here.

Partner Implications

The success of the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy is dependent on partners
having ownership and accountability of their priorities.

Reasons for considering the report in Part 2

N/A

List of Background Papers

The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (NHS England, 2016).

National strategy for England, Preventing Suicide in England, a cross governmental
strategy to save lives (HM Government, 2012)

Contact Ingrid Slade Service Public Health
Telephone No Email
ingrid.slade @wokingham.gov.uk

32




Berkshire

Suicide

Prevention

Strategy

2021-2026

e

:/" Bracknell
Forest
Council

WOKINGHAM
BOROUGH COUNCIL

KoA I
&5 Reading

www.rbwm.gov.uk

NHS|

Berkshire West

Clinical Commissioning Group

33

s www.sough.gov.uk

Borough Council

NHS

Frimley

Clinical Commissioning Group

N :
Berehire

cC 0 U N C I L

NHS!

Royal Berkshire

NHS Foundation Trust




14>

Contents

Impact of COVID-19 47
Authors 3 Debt and poor mental health 49
Acknowledgements 3 SESiE 20
Foreword 6 Socioeconomic disadvantage and suicidal behaviour 51
Executive summary 7 Ceimaling 22
S oL . Priority area 5: Supporting those who are bereaved or affected by suicide 53
National context . Specialist Suicide Bereavement Support 56
Impact of COVID-19 " Support for those impacted by suicide in the workplace 57
Suicide rates in England and Wales 13 SIOBSEIY o8
Age and gender England and Wales 13 Berkshire Wide Action Plan >9
Suicide rates in Berkshire 15
Age and gender Berkshire 17
Occupation group 20 Authors
Seasonal variation 21
Deprivation 21
. : Karen Buckley — Acting Consultant in Public Health, Reading Borough Council
Real-time surveillance system data 22
Berkshire audits and deep-dive analyses 75 Katie Badger — Trainee Programme Officer, Public Health, Reading Borough Council
Berkshire Suicide Audit (2018) 5 Rachel Johnson — Senior Programme Officer, Public Health and Wellbeing, West Berkshire Council
Berkshire 0-25 Audit (2020) 26 Janette Searle — Preventative Services Development Manager, Public Health and Wellbeing, Reading Borough Council
Berkshire female deaths deep-dive analysis (2021) 26 Sarah Shildrick - Public Health Intelligence Manager, Berkshire West Public Health Hub
Local development of this strategy 26
Methodology 28
Principles 28 ACknOWIEdgementS
Vision 28
Priority areas for action 29 We must particularly thank the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy Working Group who led the development and
Governance 29 content of this strategy. We must also acknowledge our colleagues on the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering
Priority Area 1: Children and young people 30 Group who helped to navigate the strategic direction of this strategy. Acknowledgements also extend wider to
Experience of adversity or trauma 31 additional partners who also gave up their time to contribute to the development of this strategy and action plan.
Recovery from the COVID-19 Pandemic 33
Neurodiversity 34
Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, questioning and ace (LGBTQ+) 35 Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy Working Group
Transitioning from childhood to adulthood 35
Priority area 2: Self-harm 37 Charlotte Littlemore - Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Council
Young people and self-harm 38 Fiona Price — Age UK Berkshire
Understanding self-harm and its link to suicide risk 39 Giovanni Ferri - NHS East Berkshire CCG
Hospital admissions for self-harm 41 Holli Dalgliesh — Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Council
Mental health and self-harm 42 Jennie Green - Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust
Priority area 3: Female suicide deaths 43 Patricia Pease - Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust
Perinatal mental health 43 Richard Tredgett — Reading Samaritans
Domestic abuse 45 Sarah Shildrick — Berkshire West Public Health Hub
Parental or carer stress 43 Sue Mclaughlin — Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
Priority area 4: Economic factors 46 Yvonne Mhlanga - NHS Berkshire West CCG
Berkshire Suicide Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy Prevention Strategy



GeE

Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group

Alexandra Beever — Thames Valley Police

Alison Kramer — Network Rail

Annalise Steggall - Royal Berkshire Hospital

Annie Yau-Karim — Bracknell Forest Council

Barbara Denyer - Samaritans of Bracknell, Wokingham, Ascot & Districts
Belinda Dixon — Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Council
Catherine Williams — Victim Support

Charlotte Littlemore - Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Council

Chris Allen — Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust

David Colchester — Thames Valley Police

Debbie Daly — NHS Wokingham CCG

Debbie Hartrick - NHS East Berkshire CCG

Deirdre Race - Frimley Health NHS foundation trust
Garry Poulson - Volunteer Centre West Berkshire
Gemma Dummet — Wokingham Borough Council
Giovanni Ferri — NHS East Berkshire CCG

Gwen Bonner — Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust
Gwen Wild - The Coroners' Courts Support Service
Hazel Walsh Atkins - Wokingham Sobs

Heather Craddock - Trust House Reading

lan Stiff -Victim Support

Janette Searle — Oxfordshire Mind

Jerry Dixon — Newbury Samaritans

Jillian Hunt - Bracknell Forest Council

Jo Tippett — Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust
Jonathan Groenen —Thames Valley Police

Jules Twells - Samaritans Central Office, Wales & Western
Karen Buckley - Reading Borough Council

Katie Badger — Reading Borough Council

Katie Simpson - South Meadow Surgery

Kimberley Carter — Network Rail

Monica Wyatt - Samaritans of Bracknell, Wokingham, Ascot & Districts
Nadia Barakat — NHS Frimley CCG

Natasha Berthollier — Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust
Nic Wildin-Singh — Thames Valley Police

Lara Stavrinou — Compass Recovery College, Reading Borough Council
Patricia Pease — Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust
Rachel Johnson — West Berkshire Council

Reuben Pearce - Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust
Richard Tredgett - Reading Samaritans

Ryan Dunstan — NHS Frimley CCG

Sally Murray - NHS Berkshire West CCG

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Sandra Weldon — CCSS

Selina Patankar-Owens — Reading University

Sophie Wing-King —Bracknell Forest Council

Ross Little — Berkshire West Hub

Steve Melanophy — Network Rail

Sue MclLaughlin - Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
Sultana Pasha - MTR Elizabeth Line

Sushma Acquilla — Berkshire West Hub

Victoria Charlesworth — Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
William Ayella — Slough Borough Council

Hazel Walsh Atkins, Wokingham SoBS

Yvonne Mhlanga - NHS Berkshire West CCG

Zoe Byrne —Victim Support

Additional partners

Andy Fitton — NHS Berkshire West CCG

Hayley Rees — Wokingham Council

Jenny Fennessy — Kooth

Karen Keuhne — Wokingham Borough Council
Katherine Davis — Bracknell Forest Council
Lauren Rochat - Reading Borough Council

Liz Tait - Reading Borough Council

Susannah Jordan - East Berkshire Frimley CCG
Valbona Dimiri - Reading Borough Council

Directors of Public Health

Meradin Peachey - Director of Public Health for Berkshire West
Stuart Lines - Director of Public Health for Berkshire East

Public Health Consultants

Anna Richards — Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead
Charlotte Pavitt — Bracknell Forest Council

Heema Shukla — Bracknell Forest Council

Ingrid Slade — Wokingham Borough Council

Matthew Pearce — West Berkshire Council

Sarah Rayfield — West Berkshire Council

Suzanne Foley - Slough Borough Council

Sushma Acquilla — Berkshire West Hub

David Munday - Reading Borough Council

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



o€

Foreword

In England, 5,691 people tragically took their own lives in 2019'. Reducing this number is of upmost importance
nationally and locally and remains a key public health priority. Locally we have seen an increase in female suicide
rates, and growing concern over the suicide rates in younger age groups, with the suicide rate in the 20-29 year-old
age group being significantly higher than all other age groups (2015-2019).

Suicide is one of the most tragic events for families, friends and communities, with life-long consequences. Those
bereaved by suicide are particularly vulnerable to suicide attempts and death by suicide, therefore support for those

grieving is of paramount importance.

We know thatindividual's health and wellbeing has been significantly affected throughout the course of the pandemic
and will continue to be affected in the long-term. This strategy recognises this, and across Berkshire, partners and
communities will continue to work resolutely towards mitigating the impact of the pandemic on suicide risk.

All stages of life have been considered to develop this strategy and action plan, with the acknowledgement that
risk factors at all stages of life must be considered to develop a truly preventative approach. Everyone in society has
a part to play in preventing suicides, whether it is a member of the public asking “Are you OK’, investing in good
mental wellbeing programmes, removing the triggers, supporting young people through the transitional period into
adulthood, or ensuring prompt treatment from mental health services.

This strategy helps the people and professionals of Berkshire to understand some of the factors that contribute to
suicide in Berkshire and raises awareness of how we can all contribute to preventing deaths by suicide.

iR

Stuart Lines - Director of Public Health for Berkshire East

Meradin Peachey - Director of Public Health for Berkshire West.

' Suicide rates in England and Wales 2019 registrations. ONS. Available Suicides in England and Wales - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk). Last accessed 31/08/21

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Executive Summary

Suicide prevention remains a key public health issue both locally and nationally. Strong multi-agency working, public
health leadership and robust suicide prevention plans are core to this prevention. This suicide prevention strategy for
Berkshire encompasses these core elements and sets out our action locally to reduce suicide and self-harm, based
on local intelligence, data and strategic priorities.

There were 26.8 years of life lost per 100,000 population from suicide across Berkshire on average between 2017-
19. Age specific rates are broadly in line with the England average, peaking in the 50-59-year-old age band before
decreasing until the age of 80 plus years. Real time surveillance system (RTSS) data tells us that within Berkshire,
female suicides have increased year on year since it started being collected in 2017.

Since the publication of our previous suicide prevention strategy, a Berkshire wide suicide audit has been undertaken
(in 2018). Because of the concerns highlighted in this audit and routine RTSS monitoring a female deep-dive analysis
was undertaken. NHS England also supported a 0-25 audit because of national trends reflected locally too. This
local data and intelligence have been central to the development of the priorities of this refreshed strategy, and
in collaboration with system partners. Research and data monitoring will continue to be a key focus for suicide

prevention within Berkshire, providing opportunity to review approaches and prioritise efforts accordingly.

The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated existing inequalities in suicide risk and has posed new challenges for
different groups within the population. The impact of the pandemic on mental health and suicide risk across the
lifecourse remains largely unknown, therefore monitoring and mitigation of risk it is a priority for this strategy.

This strategy builds on the previous Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy (2017-2020) and serves as a refresh of that
strategy, where we take forward the key underlying principles and identify new priorities. These were developed by
working with our key partners across the system and making good use of local data and intelligence.

There are seven priority areas for action recommended by the national suicide prevention strategy and subsequent
progress reports as follows:

1. Reduce the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups

Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups

Reduce access to the means of suicide

Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide
Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal behaviour
Support research, data collection and monitoring

N ok wN

Reducing rates of self-harm as a key indicator for suicide risk

This strategy principally focusses upon the second priority area — ‘tailor approaches to improve mental health in
specific groups, but the commitment remains to all principles and reducing suicide for all groups.

The vision for this strategy is ‘To reduce deaths by suicide in Berkshire across the lifecourse and ensure better

Berkshire Suicide 7
Prevention Strategy



LE

knowledge and action around self-harm’ In order to achieve this vision, this strategy is centred upon local data,
trends and action, and has 5 core priority areas agreed across the 6 local authorities, forming a Berkshire wide action plan.

1. Children and Young People; including the impact of trauma and adversity, recovery from COVID-19,
neurodiversity, LGBTQ+ and transitions

2. Self-harm; as a risk factor, groups vulnerable to self-harm, hospital admissions, mental health, young people
and self harm

3. Female suicide deaths; including perinatal mental health, domestic abuse, parental or carer stress

4, Economic factors; including the impact of COVID-19, debt and poor mental health, benefits, socio-economic
disadvantage and gambling

5. Supporting those who are bereaved or affected by suicide; including local suicide bereavement support,
specialist suicide bereavement support, and those impacted by suicide in the workplace

Recommendations

The following are recommendations for this strategy, which will form the Berkshire wide action plan for 2021-26.

Overarching recommendations:

Ta) To continue to monitor the impact of COVID-19 on suicide across the lifecourse through RTSS data and
respond to any identified trends.

1b) To continue to monitor the wider trends emerging from the impact of COVID-19 on people’s mental health
and suicide risk across the lifecourse, and to support the system to take action where required.

1) To undertake a Berkshire suicide audit.
1d) Undertake regular reviews of information, resources and channels for people affected by suicide.
Te) Hold an annual multi-agency conference on a range of topics to share information and best practice and

raise awareness to the risks for suicide.

1f) Invite additional partners across the System within Berkshire, including the voluntary and community sector
to join the Suicide Prevention Group for improved cross-topic working.

19) Set up sub-groups of the Suicide Prevention Group, informed by local intelligence and data, where there is

a need to focus upon a risk factor or group within the population.

Priority area 1: Children and Young People

23) To raise awareness of the link between trauma and adversity, and suicide across the life course.
2b) Continued investment into the Be Well campaign to encourage the importance of looking after emotional
wellbeing, in addition to signposting to local mental health services and support in order to prevent self-

harm and suicide in children, young people, and women.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

20)

2d)

2e)
2f)

29)

2h)

Support the system to adopt a needs-led approach for neurodiverse children and young people, particularly
in the prevention and early intervention arena, e.g. in schools and the community.

To explore improving data capture on sexual orientation for all ages in RTSS data and promote this across the
suicide prevention system.

To work with local organisations and charities who work with the LGTBO+ community on suicide prevention.
To raise awareness of the impact of the transitional period (children moving into adulthood) on the mental
health impact and the risks of suicide during this period for children and young people.

To link with the work across the BOB and Frimley ICS on the ease of access to shared care records across
system partners for transition population (children moving into adulthood).

To support higher education establishments within Berkshire, including universities to adopt a needs-led

approach to neurodiversity.

Priority area 2: Self-harm

3a)
3b)

30)
3d)

3e)

Decrease the stigma related to self-harm and encourage help seeking behaviour and self-care.

Help friends, family and professionals understand the physical and emotional signs of self-harm, how they
can help and where they can get support.

Explore the impact of self-harm on parents and siblings on their own mental health and wellbeing.
Regularly review local intelligence and data on self-harm at the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group,
ensuring additional relevant data from a wide range of sources are included (e.g. development of RTSS to
include self-harm, ambulance service data, primary care and schools).

Working with Mental Health Support Teams (MHSTs), ensure a continued focus on the prevention of self-
harm by increasing resilience and general coping skills and support for those who self-harm.

Priority area 3: Female Suicide Deaths

43)

4b)

40)

4d)
4e)

4f)

49)

Link with the Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire, Berkshire West (BOB) and Frimley local maternity systems on
suicide risks in the perinatal period.

To explore data collection on the perinatal period; risk factors and the link to suicide including data captured
in the RTSS.

Promote the need for clear pathways and knowledge exchange between domestic abuse and mental health
services.

Improve data collection of domestic abuse data in RTSS.

Include domestic abuse indicators in the Berkshire suicide audit to better understand the link between
domestic abuse and suicide.

Provide information to domestic abuse services on how to respond to concerns where clients may be self-
harming or considering suicide (whether the clientis a victim, survivor, perpetrator or child or young person).
Raise awareness of the information, resources and services available for parents and carers who are

experiencing stress, through inputting into local campaigns.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



8¢

Priority area 4: Economic Factors

5a)

5b)
50)

5d)

5e)

5f)

59)

5h)

Work with colleagues to raise awareness of the risk between debt, mental health and suicide risk among

frontline professionals and the wider public. Awareness raising needs to;

. reduce the stigma of ‘being in debt’and signpost to access debt and benefit advice and support.
This information also needs to be shared with frontline professionals

. encourage people in debt to reach out for help to reduce impact on mental health

. encourage people with poor mental health to reach out for debt advice

Support frontline professionals to feel comfortable about talking about debt and financial problems and the

link to poor mental health and suicide risk and what support is available.

Support Berkshire local authorities with a single point of access information site around money matters.

Ensure compassionate debt collection. Make sure the process is supportive and aims to steer residents to

places that can provide help and support. Support vulnerable groups at increased risk of debt including

people with long-term conditions or disabilities.

Work with key partners to actively promote services that provide help around navigating the benefits system

and potentially increasing people’s incomes.

Make sure that all parts of the health service where patients showing suicidal intent first make contact, are

signposted or triaged appropriately using a process that includes debts and other economic stresses as risk

factors.

Work with system partners on the early identification and support of people who are at increased risk of debt

and financial concerns (e.g. unemployed or people with long-term conditions) as early as possible and offer

effective support to manage personal finances through appropriate referral pathways.

Monitor local data and intelligence on levels of problem gambling within Berkshire and its link to suicide.

Priority area 5: Supporting those who are bereaved or affected by suicide

6a)

Ensure our local bereavement offer is culturally and ethnically appropriate for different groups within
communities to develop resources and services.

Continued support to the volunteer led local SoBS groups to be able to continue to offer a peer-to-peer
support service.

Building in bereavement support to extend to wider family members, friends and communities.

Continue to commission suicide bereavement support services and monitor its impact.

Explore training opportunities for colleagues and workplaces impacted by suicide.

Work with Thames Valley Police and other first responders to a suicide, to share appropriate resources with
employers.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Background

National context

Every suicide is a tragedy. It has life changing impacts for those bereaved, and profound impacts on communities
and services. Suicide is preventable, not inevitable. Strong multi-agency partnership working, suicide prevention
groups and a robust strategy are key to this prevention.

The 2012 national suicide prevention strategy — ‘Preventing suicide in England: A cross government outcomes
strategy to save lives'(DHSC 2012)? alongside five subsequent progress reports (DHSC 2014, 2015, 2017, 2019, 2021) 34°¢7
sets out seven areas for priority and action, that all local suicide prevention plans should cover on a long-term basis,
which are the guiding principles in this strategy:

1. Reduce the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups

Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups

Reduce access to the means of suicide

Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide
Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal behaviour
Support research, data collection and monitoring

N ok woN

Reducing rates of self-harm as a key indicator for suicide risk

A practical resource for suicide prevention planning produced by Public Health England (2020)® recommends short
term actions with a co-ordinated whole systems approach for local plans, alongside the seven priority areas of the
national strategy in the long-term.

The most recent national confidential inquiry into suicide and safety in mental health (NCISH) 2021 provides findings
relating to people who have died by suicide in the UK between 2008 and 2018°. The report recommends that tackling
inequalities remains a priority, areas should continue to understand the specific needs for different groups, monitor
demands for mental health providers and engage with the voluntary and community sector. Plans must also address
the specific needs of the populations they cover.

~

Preventing Suicide in England: A cross government outcomes strategy to save lives. Department for Health and Social Care (2012) Available Suicide prevention strategy for
England - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) Last accessed 31/08/21

Preventing suicide in England: One year on First annual report on the cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives. HM Government (2014) Available First annual report
on the cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives (publishing.service.gov.uk) Last accessed 20/08/21

Preventing suicide in England two years on: Second annual report on the cross government outcomes strategy to save lives. Department for Health and Social Care (2015)
Available Suicide prevention: second annual report - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) Last accessed 20/08/21

Preventing suicide in England: Third progress report of the cross government outcomes strategy to save lives. Department for Health and Social Care (2017) Available Suicide
prevention: third annual report - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) Last accessed 20/08/21

Preventing suicide in England: Fourth progress report of the cross government outcomes strategy to save lives. Department for Health and Social Care (2017) Available
Preventing suicide in England: fourth progress report of the cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives (publishing.service.gov.uk) Last accessed 20/08/21

Preventing suicide in England: Fifth progress report of the cross government outcomes strategy to save lives. Department for Health and Social Care (2021) Available Suicide
prevention in England: fifth progress report - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) Last accessed 20/08/21

Local Suicide Prevention Planning: A Practical Resource. PHE (2020) Available PHE_LA_Guidance_25_Nov.pdf (publishing.service.gov.uk) Last accessed 18/08/12

National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Safety in Mental Health. Annual report: 2021 The University of Manchester (2021). Available NCISH | Annual report 2021: England,
Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales - NCISH (manchester.ac.uk) Last accessed 20/08/21

w

IS

@

o

N

®

©

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



6€

Impact of COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated inequalities in suicide risk and has presented new challenges for different

groups of the population'®, therefore monitoring impact and taking early action must be of paramount importance.

The COVID-19 Mental Health and Wellbeing Recovery Action Plan sets out a broad plan covering 2021 to 2022
in response to the mental health impacts of the pandemic, which will form the foundation for future policy
development and delivery as knowledge and understanding of the impacts of the pandemic as it grows. Actions
and commitments within the plan aim to support people at risk of self-harm or suicide. This includes supporting the
population to take action and look after their mental wellbeing, preventing the onset of mental health difficulties
and supporting specialist services to continue to expand and transform to meet needs'".

In 2020, the NCISH Team was particularly concerned with the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and measures
to control transmission, e.g. lockdowns'. They published a report comparing the months pre-lockdown (January-
March 2020) to post-lockdown (April-August 2020), concluding that there was no evidence of the large national rise
in suicide post-lockdown that many feared. Although suicide rates appeared to be higher in 2020 than in 2019, the
context was an upward trend noted pre-pandemic, alongside improvements in local data capture. An important
caveat to this NCISH finding was that the national team could not rule out higher rates in some local areas or
population subgroups, with the possibility of elevated rates for some being masked by suppressed rates for others.
The Chair of the National Suicide Prevention Strategy Advisory Group has also recommended particular vigilance
regarding data on suicide rates in younger people and in those with previous contact with secondary mental health
services. Another caveat is that other data sets indicate an increase in risk factors for suicide — such as poorer mental
health and increased economic pressure — linked to COVID-19, and this could lead to increased suicide rates in the
longer term.

Recommendation 1a: To continue to monitor the impact of COVID-19 on suicide across the lifecourse through
RTSS data and respond to any identified trends.

Recommendation 1b: To continue to monitor the wider trends emerging from the impact of COVID-19 on people’s
mental health and suicide risk across the lifecourse, and to support the system to take action where required.

1% One year on: How the coronavirus pandemic has affected wellbeing and suicidality. Samaritans (2021). Available Samaritans_Covid_1YearOn_Report_2021.pdf Last
accessed 17/08/21

" COVID-19 mental health and wellbeing recovery action plan Our plan to prevent, mitigate and respond to the mental health impacts of the pandemic during 2021 to 2022.
HM Government (2021). Available COVID-19 mental health and wellbeing recovery action plan (publishing.service.gov.uk) Last accessed 17/08/21

12 Suicide in England since the COVID-19 pandemic - early figures from real-time surveillance NCISH (2020) Available display.aspx (manchester.ac.uk) Last accessed 02/09/21

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Suicide Rates in England and Wales

The definition of suicide used for National Statistics includes all deaths from intentional self-harm for persons aged
10 years and over and deaths caused by injury or poisoning where the intent was undetermined for those aged
15 or over. Figures are based on the date on which the death was registered rather than the date which the death
occurred. All deaths cannot be defined as caused by suicide until certified by a Coroner following an inquest, and
so the death cannot be registered as a suicide until the inquest is complete. This can take months or even years, and
this delay between death, inquest, and registration will have been further increased during the Covid-19 pandemic.

In July 2018, the standard of proof used by coroners to determine if a death was caused by suicide was lowered. This
may in part account for increases in the numbers of deaths recorded as suicides before and after this date, although
the impact of this change appears to be relatively minor'. Initial findings suggest that the increases in suicide in
2018 appeared to begin prior to the July change indicating a real increase in numbers not attributable to the coding
change.

The suicide rate in England and Wales in 2019 was 11 per 100,000. Rates increased from the previous year for both
males and females. Males accounted for three-quarters of suicides in England and Wales in 2019 and the male suicide
rate in England was the highest seen since 2000. The suicide rate for males in the South East increased significantly
to 16.8 per 100,000 from 13.5 per 100,000 in 2018.

Age and Gender England and Wales

Since the early 1980s rates in suicide by age have shown a consistent pattern, peaking among the middle-aged
(40-54 years) before decreasing until the ages of 80-84, from which they begin to rise. Male suicide rates have seen
a recent increase since 2017 in those aged 10 to 24 years, 25 to 44 years and 45 to 64 years although there has been
an overall decrease in suicides since a peak in the late 80's. There was a marked decrease in female suicides between
1981 and the mid 1990's which was mainly driven by a decrease in rates in females aged over 44, Suicide rates in the
10 to 24 and 25 to 44-year-old age group have been historically low and stable. In 2019, the female suicide rate for
those aged 10 to 24 years in England and Wales was the highest recorded since 1981. The rate has increased by 93.8%
from 1.6 deaths per 100,000 in 1981 to 3.1 deaths per 100,000 in 2019. The rate among females aged 25 to 44 years
saw a significant increase from 4.5 to 6.1 deaths per 100,000 between 2016 and 2019.

'3 Change in the standard of proof used by coroners and the impact on suicide death registrations data in England and Wales - Office for National Statistics.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



oy

Figure 1: Suicide patterns by age

Age-specific suicide rates by sex and five year B versons

age groups, England and Wales, registered in 2019 =Ma|e
Female

30

20

15

Age-specific rate per 100,000

10-14 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40- 44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+

Age Group

Source: Office for National Statistics — Suicides in England and Wales 2019

Nationally, the percentage of suicides caused by hanging, strangulation and suffocation has increased in recent years.

These account for 62% of suicides among males and 47% of suicides among females. The second most common
method of suicide is poisoning, accounting for 16% of male suicides and 33% of female suicides.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Suicide Rates in Berkshire

Table 1 shows the number of deaths in Berkshire local authorities due to suicide over a rolling three-year time
period. There was a total of 198 deaths from suicide in Berkshire between 2017 and 2019. This translates to an age-
standardised rate of 8.7 per 100,000 population. There has been a non-statistically significant increase in the rate from
2016-18™.

In 2017-19, rates were highest in Reading and West Berkshire. Wokingham has the lowest rate of suicide. There
were 26.8 years of life lost per 100,000 population from suicide across Berkshire on average between 2017-19. West
Berkshire has the highest average life years lost at 33 per 100,000 population. However, this is not significantly higher
than the South East or England average.

Itisimportant to note that it is difficult to make clear comparisons between areas due to the random fluctuation that
can be seen in statistics calculated from small numbers. None of the differences between areas described above or
seen in table 1 are statistically significant.

Table 1: Suicides in Berkshire

Years of life lost due to suicide,
Age-standardised rate per age-standardised rate
AT DT GRS 100,000 15-74 years: per 10,000
population (3-year average)
2015-17 | 2016-18 | 2017-19 | 2015-17 | 2016-18 | 2017-19 | 2015-17 | 2016-18 | 2017-19
England 13846 14047 14788 9.6 9.6 10.1 30.8 31.3 33.0
S 2230 2194 2299 9.4 9.2 9.6
Region
Bracknell
32 27 28 104 9.1 9.1 284 23.6 26.3
Forest
Slough 30 38 31 77 10.1 89 298 34.2 257
Windsor and
Maidenhead 33 33 32 85 85 80 343 32.2 254
Reading 33 28 38 8.0 7.2 9.9 239 18.6 26.2
West 35 35 40 84 8.5 9.7 2638 288 329
Berkshire
Wokingham 35 29 29 8.1 6.7 6.8 229 214 24.0
Berkshire 198 190 198 8.5 8.3 8.7 27.7 26.5 26.8

Source: Public Health England Suicide Prevention Profile

' ONS, analysed by Public Health

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



1A%

When looking at this data over time, the rates of suicide across Berkshire have remained relatively stable since 2001-03.

Rates in Slough have stayed close to the national and regional averages since 2001-03. Rates in Windsor and
Maidenhead decreased significantly below national and regional averages in 2008-10 and 2012-14, but are now in
line with the national and regional averages (2017-19). Rates in Bracknell Forest similarly dropped significantly below
national and regional averages for the two consultative time periods of 2006-08 and 2007-09 and then again in 2012-

14, but again are now in line with the national and regional averages in the time period up to and including 2017-19.

Figure 2: Suicide rates in Berkshire East Local Authorities

Age-standardised mortality from suicide and injury - England
of undetermined intent per 100,000 Berkshire south Fast
East Local Authorities

Bracknell Forest
Slough
Windsor & Maidenhead

o

8

S 10 B A DY N SPt

S _— :

_

5 8

0]

Y

©

©

- 6

D

&

©

=

© 4

i}

c

©

i

| 2

4]

o))

<
[
& N & &* 3| P g N v <> e N o N & N
& 4 <3 » $ © S $ 9 o S & & > Q o Q

o o $ & S & N J N ~ ~N N ~N

L N N N

3-year time period
Source: Public Health England Suicide Prevention Profile

Rates in Reading have stayed close to the national and regional averages since 2001-03. Rates in West Berkshire
dropped significantly below national and regional averages for the two consecutive time periods of 2013-15 and
2014-16, but are back in line with national and regional averages in the time period up to and including 2017-19.
Rates in Wokingham are consistently below the regional and national averages, being significantly lower between
2001 and 2007 and again between 2010 and 2015. They remain lower in the time period up to and including 2017-19
although the difference is no longer significant.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Figure 3: Suicide rates in Berkshire West Local Authorities

Age-Standardised mortality from suicide and injury @i =e======e== England
undetermined intent per 100,000 Berkshire West southEast
Local Authorities

Wokingham
West Berkshire
Reading

Age-standardised rate per 100,000

& & @ & & & & ~ N v > > ~ ~° Q N ~

.y ) O N a2
O N N N
O A S . O M

3-year time period

Source: Public Health England Suicide Prevention Profile

Age and Gender Berkshire

Since the 1980s age-specific suicide rates in England have shown a consistent pattern, peaking among the middle-
aged (40-54 years) before decreasing until the ages of 80-84, from which they begin to rise. In order to assess age-
specific suicide rates in Berkshire, it is necessary to pool together five years'worth of data. This is done to reduce the
chance of identifying differences that have occurred at random within the data, which is more likely to happen when
numbers are relatively small. It allows identification of statistically significant differences between groups.

Berkshire Suicide 17
Prevention Strategy



A%

Figure 4: Age-specific suicide rates

Age-specific suicide rates by ten-year age groups
Berkshire 2015-19 (5-year pooled data)

90

80

il

10-19 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 80+ All ages

Age-specific rate per 100,000 population
8 8 8 S

-
(=]

Age band

Source: ONS Civil Registrations Data provided under license by NHS Digital

Age-specific suicide rates in Berkshire generally show a similar pattern to the national picture. They peak in the
50-59-year-old age band before decreasing until the age of 80 plus years. In Berkshire, suicide rates in the 40-49-year-
old age group (57 per 100,000) and in the 50-59-year-old age group (63 per 100,000) are significantly higher than the
average for all age groups (37 per 100,000). Nationally, suicide rates in males aged 10 to 24 years, and 25 to 44 years
have been increasing since 2017.In 2019, the suicide rate among females aged 10 to 24 years in England and Wales
is the highest recorded since 1981.1n Berkshire, the suicide rate in the 20-29-year-old age group is significantly higher
(55 per 100,000) than the average for all age groups.

In England, three quarters of all suicides are male suicides. In Berkshire between 2017 and 2019, the male age-
standardised suicide rate was 14.1 per 100,000 which is lower than the rate for England (15.5 per 100,000) and similar
to the rate for the South East (14.6 per 100,000). The proportion of suicides that were male suicides for Berkshire local
authorities between 2017 and 2019 range from 69% in Windsor and Maidenhead to 90% in Slough. Age-standardised
rates for male suicides range from 11.1 per 100,00 in Wokingham and Windsor and Maidenhead, to 16. 6 per 100,000
in Bracknell Forest. Numbers are too small to detect any statistically significant differences between Berkshire local
authorities, or between Berkshire local authorities and the regional and national averages but do suggest some
variation between areas in both the male suicide rate and the proportional of all suicides that are male suicides.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Table 2: Male suicides

e e Proportion of all deaths
Male deaths rate ber 100.000 by suicide that are
p ! male deaths
2015-17 | 2016-18 | 2017-19 | 2015-17 | 2016-18 | 2017-19 | 2015-17 | 2016-18 | 2017-19
England 10392 | 10592 | 11145 14.7 14.9 15.5 75% 75% 75%
;‘e’;it::as" 1643 1606 1707 143 13.9 14.6 74% 73% 74%
E;gtt”e” 30 24 24 197 169 166 949% 89% 86%
Slough 26 34 28 130 179 16.0 87% 89% 90%
XX;E;;’LZZS 20 21 22 107 1.1 1.1 61% 64% 69%
Reading 27 20 28 132 104 138 82% 71% 74%
\é\gsktshire 27 28 32 135 14.0 158 77% 80% 80%
Wokingham 25 19 23 120 9.1 1.1 71% 66% 79%
Berkshire 155 146 157 13.7 13.2 14.1 78% 77% 79%

Source: Public Health England Suicide Prevention Profile

The numbers of female suicides at a local authority level are very small. There were 41 female suicides across all
Berkshire local authorities between 2017 and 2019. Age-standardised rates can only be calculated for Reading, and
Windsor and Maidenhead local authorities for this time period, as these are the only local authorities with 10 or
more female suicides. The 2017-19 female suicide rate for Reading is 5.5 per 100,000 and the rate for Windsor and
Maidenhead is 5 per 100,000. These figures are both in line with England (4.9 per 100,000) and the South East Region
(4.8 per 100,000).

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



e

Occupation Group

Office of National Statistics (ONS) death registration statistics categorise a person’s occupation using the Standard
Occupational Classification (SOC) 2010. The analysis below looks at the Major SOC Group of people who have died
from suicide or an injury of undetermined intent who were resident in Berkshire and who died between 2015 and
2019. Anyone aged less than 16 has been excluded. 'Student’is not included in the SOC so this category has been
added based on the occupation recorded on the death registration. This resulted in 237 deaths being included in the
analysis based on data on deaths registered between 2015 and 2019.

Table 3: Major Occupation Groups

Deaths from | % of all deaths
suicide and from suicide Lower Ubber
Major Occupation Group injury of and injury of o PP
. : limit limit
undetermined | undetermined
intent 2015-19 intent
Administrative and Secretarial Occupations * * * *
Associate Professional Occupations 3] 13% 9% 18%
Caring, Leisure and Other Service Occupations 18 8% 5% 12%
Elementary Occupations 26 11% 8% 16%
Managers, Directors and Senior Officials 22 9% 6% 14%
Process, Plant and Machine Operatives 20 8% 6% 13%
Professional Occupations 30 13% 9% 17%
Sales and Customer Service Occupations * * * *
Skilled Trades Occupations 61 26% 21% 32%
Student 14 6% 4% 10%
Total Deaths 237

Source: ONS Civil Registrations Data provided under license by NHS Digital

In Berkshire, between 2015 and 2019, a quarter of people dying from suicide had an occupation group of ‘Skilled
Trades Occupations’ (26%).

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Seasonal Variation

A count of the number of suicides in Berkshire by the season in which death occurred does not reveal any seasonal
variation, ranging from 70 in the Winter to 95 in the Autumn (see Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA).

Deprivation

The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is the official measure of relative deprivation in England. It is an overall
measure of deprivation experienced by people living in every Lower Super Output Areas (LSOA), or neighbourhood,
in England. All neighbourhoods are ranked according to their level of deprivation and are grouped into 10 equal
groups (deciles). These groups describe each area based on which decile of the IMD it falls into. Group 1 being the
most deprived 10% and group 10 being the least deprived 10%.

Neighbourhoods in Berkshire are not evenly distributed across these 10 national deciles with neighbourhoods
in some Local Authority areas in Berkshire being heavily skewed towards the least deprived deciles. Therefore, to
assist in looking at suicide data in Berkshire by deprivation, Berkshire neighbourhoods have been ranked in order
of deprivation when compared to all other neighbourhoods in Berkshire. They have been split into 5 equal groups
(quintiles) in order to describe each neighbourhood in terms of how deprived it is in relation to all other Berkshire
neighbourhoods. Group 1 neighbourhoods are the least deprived in Berkshire, group 5 neighbourhoods are the
most deprived in Berkshire.

Suicide rates are lowest amongst people living in the least deprived areas (32 per 100,000 in quintile 5) and higher
amongst those living in the more deprived areas (49 per 100,000 in quintiles 1 & 2), although this is not statistically significant.

Figure 5: Suicide rates by deprivation

Suicide rates by deprivation quintile within Berkshire 2015-19
(5-year pooled data)

50

40

30

20

10

o
1 2 3 4 5

Deprivation quintile (1 is most deprived)

Craude rate per 100,000

TOTAL DEATHS

Source: ONS Civil Registrations Data provided under license by NHS Digital

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



4%

Real-Time Surveillance System Data

Because of the delay between a death by suicide being counted in the ONS data, Local Real Time Surveillance Systems
(RTSSs) have been developed to allow early data capture and sharing of information amongst key partners working
on suicide prevention. This means that ahead of a formal verdict, organisations involved in suicide prevention work
can review incidents so that trends or patterns can be spotted and acted on quickly, e.g. in terms of enhanced
surveillance or additional promotion of support to groups at higher risk.

Details of suspected suicides are usually gathered by a police officer attending the scene of a sudden death, but
sometimes by a coroner’s officer receiving a sudden death report, or by a member of hospital staff. What information
is available regarding an individual’s background and circumstances is very much dependent on what relatives or
close friends are available to share, and how well informed they may be.

In addition to demographic information such as gender and age, the RTSS in Berkshire captures marital status,
occupation, local authority area of residence, GP details, known contact with mental health services, and any other
information on circumstances which appears may be relevant to the suicide at the time of compiling the initial
report. Since March 2020, any known impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on the individual are also noted, e.g. reduced
access to support, impact of isolation, additional economic or other stresses.

280 suspected suicides were recorded in the Berkshire RTSS between 1st January 2017 and 27th May 2021. Two
thirds were male. However, the gender difference in suicides recorded in the RTSS notably reduced in 2020 with 39%
of all suspected suicides being female suicides. This can be compared to 21% of all suspected suicides being female
suicides in 2017. The gender difference became no longer statistically significant in 2020 and this trend appears to
be continuing into the early part of 2021. Suspected suicides amongst females have increased year on year since
Berkshire RTSS data began been collected in 2017

Figure 6: Suspected suicides by gender

Berkshire RTSS Data - percentage of deaths by gender =Fema'e
Male

80%

60%
2
5
©
he) 40%
(]
g
=
| i i i
a 20%
a

0%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 (up to end May)
Year of death

Source: Berkshire Real Time Suicide Surveillance Data

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Almost 80% of suspected suicides had information detailing relationship status collected via the RTSS. Of those with known
relationship status, 40% were single (35% of females and 43% of males). Relationship status varies by gender with females
been significantly more likely to be in a relationship (not including marriage and civil partnerships) than males.

Figure 7: Suspected suicides by relationship status and gender

Suspected suicides 2017 to end May 2021 - relationship status B emole
Percentage of those with known relationship status I vale
50%
=
e
z
il
% 40%
©
£ o
= O
E 2 30%
£¢
S =
> 5
g § 20%
8 (%}
O
g
5 10%
ks
0%
Divorced/separated In arelationship Married/Civil Partnership Single Widowed

Relationship status

Source: Berkshire Real Time Suicide Surveillance Data

67% of suspected suicides occurred in a person’s own home, 20% occurred in a place accessible by the general
public and the remainder occurred in a communal establishment or hotel. Analysis of method of suicides indicate
a similar pattern to the national picture with hanging, strangulation, and suffocation recorded for 66% of suspected
suicides and poisoning recorded for 20% of suspected suicides.

As part of RTSS, information is collected on medical history of the individual including known illnesses, contact with
health services,and anything else that may be relevant. There is also a section for describing the circumstances leading
up to the death. These are extracted and summarised to provide a description of any individual circumstances that
may be relevant to the potential suicide. For the purpose of this strategy, these circumstances have been grouped
into 10 categories. This will not be a full and complete picture of the circumstances leading to individual deaths but
will be indicative of patterns at a population level that may warrant further investigation.

From the 187 potential suicides where information was provided around the relevant medical history and/or the
circumstances leading to death, 41% had multiple or complex mental health issues. A further 33% have a history
of anxiety and/or depression. Other reported factors included alcohol or substance misuse in the absence of any
other recorded mental health issue (7%) and poor physical health (6%). Previous suicide attempts were mentioned in
relation to 22 deaths (12%). Direct links to the Covid-19 pandemic were flagged in 8 suspected suicides.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



114

Figure 8: Suspected suicides by circumstances recorded at time of death

Berkshire RTSS Data - circumtances recorded at time of death
2017 to end May 2021

45%
40%

35%

30%

25%

20%

15%

10%

0%

Alcohol or substance Anxiety and/or Family/relationship issues Mulitpleand/or complex
misuse depression mental health issues

Other

Poor physical health

Source: Berkshire Real Time Suicide Surveillance Data (data with underlying numbers of <5 have been suppressed)

It is likely that this data will be skewed towards the more immediately apparent factors with other, indirect
contributing factors only coming to light through further investigation into the death. At inquest, for example,
additional information is usually reported regarding the circumstances and personal characteristics of the person
who died, although there is some variation between coroners'courts and in how much information it is possible to

confirm in individual cases.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Berkshire Audits and Deep-dive Analyses

The purpose of suicide audits is to review coroner court reports to gain richer demographic, risk and protective factor
intelligences than can be derived from the ONS data sets or from RTSS data. Deep-dive analysis is done where audit
or RTSS data indicates concerns that require further investigation.

Berkshire Suicide Audit (2018)

The most recent Berkshire Suicide Audit covered coroner verdicts across the period 1st April 2014 through to 31st
March 2018 and included a review of 241 hearings.

. The Berkshire profile broadly matched the national profile in terms of gender.

. Some age variations were noted but not at a statistically significant level.

. No statistically significant difference was found between suicide rates in areas of relative deprivation in Berkshire.
. The majority of people included were either in full-time work (24%), unemployed (20%) or retired (18%).

. 80% of all of those who were employed had a job title recorded and 43% of these worked in a skilled trade.
. 6% of all people included were recorded as being in education at the time of death.

The 2018 Audit highlighted the following personal and social factors as seen on a recurring basis in inquest reports:
. Relationship difficulties (67%)

. One or more mental health diagnosis (63%)
. One or more physical health condition (61%)
. History of self-harm (21%)

. Work-related stress (20%)

. Financial issues (19%)

. Involvement with police or courts (15%)

. Bereavement by suicide (6%)

This information is helpful in identifying risk factors which can help to target local interventions and signposting to
support services to work towards preventing deaths by suicide.

The 2018 Audit included a review of which services individuals were known to have been in contact with.

. 10% of all individuals were known to substance misuse services in their lifetime. 20% had a documented
history of alcohol misuse and 17% had documented history of drug misuse.

. 51% of those who died and who were registered with a GP had seen their GP within 1 month prior to the
date of death (compared to 45% nationally).

. 36% of all deaths occurred to people known to mental health services (compared to 33% nationally), and
31% of individuals had been in contact with mental health services in the 12 months prior to their death
(compared to 30% nationally).

This information is particularly useful in identifying which agencies to target for suicide prevention activities such as
awareness training for staff, as well as potential locations for signposting material. It should be noted that the 2020-21
deep dive analysis of female suicides (see below) suggests some changes in health support seeking behaviour since
this audit was completed.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



oY

Recommendation 1c: To undertake a Berkshire suicide audit.

Recommendation 1d: Undertake regular reviews of information, resources and channels for people affected by
suicide. This action is applicable to all areas of this strategy.

Berkshire 0-25 Audit (2020)

NHS England has co-ordinated a series of reviews into deaths from suicide by children and young people, including
a Berkshire audit of people aged 0-25 who died by suicide in the period 2015-20. This focused work helps to mitigate
against the risk of issues particularly pertinent to young people getting overlooked in an all-age approach, within
which deaths by younger people are a minority.

For the Berkshire 0-25 Audit, information was drawn from the Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP), Berkshire Healthcare
Foundation Trust, Thames Valley Police, and the Coroner’s Office. A total sample of 35 young people were included
in the analysis. Analysis around ethnicity; and wider experience of adversity, trauma, and socio-economic risk factors
were based on the CDOP qualitative sample of 7 young people. Key findings of the audit are highlighted below with
an acknowledgement that caution needs to be given when deriving patterns from a relatively small sample size.

Females were over-represented by comparison with national data (a trend mirrored in the female deep-dive
analysis summarised below)

The Berkshire age profile did not align with the national picture, but indicated local peaks in the 15-19 and
mid 20s age ranges

Young people from black or minority ethnic groups were over-represented by comparison to national data
Data on faith, gender identity and sexuality were difficult to source

Adverse childhood experiences (which includes domestic abuse, parental separation, involvement with
criminal justice, poverty within this audit) — were noted in 71% of cases

Neurodiversity was an identified risk factor

Postvention support for young people following a suicide attempt was indicated as an area for development.

Berkshire female deaths deep-dive analysis (2021)

RTSS data had highlighted an increase in the proportion of all suicides which are female suicides from 21% in 2017 to
39% in 2020. Female suicides have shown a small but steady increase from 13 in 2017 to 24 in 2020. Whereas male
suicides have not followed this increasing pattern but have overall decreased from 49 in 2017 to 38 in 2020. There is
a continuing unusual pattern in the numbers of females dying by suicide in Berkshire, by comparison with previous
years and by comparison with patterns in the RTSS data for other parts of the Thames Valley.

The Berkshire Suicide Prevention Group agreed in 2020 that the number of female suspected suicides in Berkshire
was sufficiently unusual to convene a response group to look at cases in more depth. A sub-group was therefore
formed to carry out a deep-dive review.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

This deep-dive was based on RTSS data and further supplemented by further enquiries of GP practices, secondary
mental health care (particularly Serious Incident Review findings), and of bereaved families where appropriate and
possible, without re-traumatising. Further information from families was also gathered via contact with Berkshire’s
specialist postvention service, where families elected to take up this service. Information was obtained from GP
records for 80% of the women whose deaths were considered as part of this analysis. In most cases, however, little
information was available from primary care sources to supplement what was already captured within the RTSS.
Several GPs volunteered that the patient had not been seen by the practice for some time prior to death. Given the
findings from the 2018 Berkshire audit that around half of the people included in that review had seen their GP within
a month of their death, this may indicate a change in health supporting seeking behaviour during the COVID-19
pandemic, a pattern which has been observed from other surveys over this period.

Across the period January 2020 to May 2021, female deaths were highest in Slough and Reading of the six Berkshire
unitary areas, accounting for 26% and 37% of all female deaths respectively. Up until the age of 60, there is an
increasing trend in the number of suicides by age. When considering 10-year age bands, deaths are highest in the
40-49 and 50-59 year-old age groups, with these two groups accounting for 49% of deaths by suicide in females.

Although the numbers are too small to identify statistically significant themes, several issues were identified for more
than one of the women who died:

a. A mental ill-health diagnosis and /or history of contact with mental health services (found to be the case for
all women where it proved possible to obtain further information from GP records)

b. Adverse Childhood Experiences - most often related to sexual abuse, but also loss of or separation from

parents

History of self-harm

History of alcohol or substance abuse

Parenting / carer stress

Financial stress

Domestic abuse

> @ e oaon

Workplace stresses and adjustment challenges, particularly for those in a health, care or other frontline role
(including childcare and police)

i Neurodiversity

j. Bereavement and grief

k. History of disordered eating

. Denial of suicidal intent at the time of last contact with services

Although clear and direct links to the impact of COVID-19 appear in only a small number of the cases considered
so far, there may be other and more subtle links, such as have come to light where it has proved possible to have
further discussion with bereaved relatives. As the pandemic and associated control measures have disrupted access
to services for many people, this makes it more difficult to gather information about people’s circumstances just prior
to death, e.g. via enquiries of primary care. The impact of COVID-19 remains an issue to consider.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



LY

Local development of this strategy

Our previous Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2017-2020 mirrors the national 2012 strategy, and so remains
current as there has been no national update. This strategy is therefore a refresh of the previous strategy, using local
data and intelligence to prioritise our efforts across Berkshire to reduce suicide risk.

Methodology

This strategy has been developed with the view that it builds on and takes forward the information, knowledge and
action that is covered in the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2017-2020. In this sense, it is a refreshed strategy
that benefits from utilising the expertise of members of the long-established Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering
Group that has been in place for over five years.

Whilst there has been no formal public consultation, as was done previously, this strategy has a local focus and contains
the perspectives from professionals working in the statutory, private and third sector organisations. Colleagues
who support people who have been directly affected by suicide have also been involved, who have worked with
sensitivity to engage this group with this strategy. The strategy reflects the commitments of the Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Steering Group who worked together on identifying the key priorities, which have been derived from
reviewing local data, intelligence, and information.

A small subgroup of the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group was responsible for further defining the content
for each of the priorities and providing regular updates to and receiving feedback, from the main steering group.

Principles

This strategy is a refresh of our previous strategy, in that our priorities last time, and the priorities of the national
strategy, are now our guiding principles to how we work to prevent suicide across Berkshire. The 7 guiding principles
for this strategy are;

1. Reduce the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups

Tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups

Reduce access to the means of suicide

Provide better information and support to those bereaved or affected by suicide

Support the media in delivering sensitive approaches to suicide and suicidal behaviour

Support research, data collection and monitoring

N o kW

Reduce rates of self-harm as a key indicator of suicide risk

Vision
The suicide prevention group have acknowledged that there is a need for a more personalised strategic direction in how

we prevent suicide locally, and that we need to consider risk factors across the whole lifecourse to truly prevent suicide.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Vision: To reduce deaths by suicide in Berkshire across the lifecourse and ensure better knowledge and

action around self-harm.

Priority areas for action

Rather than the 6 action plans from the last strategy across each local authority, there has been an agreement to
agree common priorities for action across Berkshire.

Based on the local data, and what is happening locally, we have agreed to focus on 5 core priority areas. These
principally address the national priority to tailor approaches to improve mental health in specific groups, but we
remain committed to all our principles and reducing suicide rates across all population groups. Our local intelligence
has demonstrated a need to focus on the following key areas;

1. Children and Young People

2 Self-harm

3 Female suicide deaths

4. Economic factors

5 People bereaved or affected by suicide

Whilst these are our agreed strategic priorities across Berkshire, there will remain a need to monitor trends and risk
factors, particularly from the impacts of COVID-19 and to respond to latest changes.

Governance

Our suicide prevention steering group is a well engaged group of stakeholders across the Berkshire system, including
public health colleagues across the 6 local authorities, Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) colleagues across the
2 CCG areas, representation from those bereaved suicide, and the voluntary sector. This group has worked to the
evidence base and has responded flexibly to meet the changing patterns in deaths by suicide to prevent suicide.
Leads will be identified for each priority area, and working groups established to take these recommendations forward.
The suicide prevention group will continue to have overall responsibility of the delivery of the recommendations set
out in this strategy.

Recommendation 1e: Hold an annual multi-agency conference on a range of topics to share information and best
practice and raise awareness to the risks for suicide.

Recommendation1f: Invite additional partners across the System within Berkshire, including the voluntary and

community sector to join the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group for improved cross-topic working.

Recommendation1g: Set up sub-groups of the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group, informed by local

intelligence and data, where there is a need to focus upon a risk factor or group within the population.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



814

Priority Area 1: Children and young people

The UK has a relatively low rate of suicide by children and young people compared to other countries, however
suicide is one of the leading causes of death in children and young people in the UK'™. There has been growing
concern over the rising rates of suicide and self-harm in children and young people'®. Childline has reported that
the number of referrals their counsellors have made to external agencies due to suicidal concerns has seen a steep
increase since 2009/10 to 2018/19, from 283 to 3,518 referrals'’.

The Royal College of Paediatricians and Child Health's 2020 report into the State of Child Health notes that suicide in
children and young people may be associated with many factors, including poor mental health; self-harm; academic
pressures or worries; bullying; social isolation; family environment and bereavement; relationship problems; substance
misuse; or neglect. Adverse childhood experiences, stressors in early life and recent events also contribute to the risk.
Suicide represents the extreme end point of mental ill-health in children and young people, there are many more
that experience suicidal ideation, attempt suicide and an even higher number self-harming. Although most children
and young people who self-harm may not take their own life, it is a strong risk factor for suicide in the future'. A
retrospective study found that for every suicide death in the age range of 12 — 17 year olds, it is estimated that
there are 100 and 1000 times more hospital attendances for self-harm for males and females respectively’. This is
discussed in more detail within the self-harm chapter of this strategy.

Good mental health and emotional wellbeing in children and young people can help build resilience, and in turn
become a protective factor against suicide. The NHS five-year forward view recognises that children and young
people are a priority group for mental health promotion and prevention. Early intervention and quick access to
good quality care is vital — especially for children and young people. Waiting times should be substantially reduced,
significant inequalities in access should be addressed and support should be offered while people are waiting for

care®,

The NCISH 2017 report on suicide by children and young people highlighted themes that should be specifically

targeted for prevention?';

Support and management of family factors like mental illness or substance misuse
Childhood abuse
. Bullying
Physical health
Mental ill health
Alcohol or drug misuse

> Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (2020) State of Child Health. London: RCPCH. Available at: stateofchildhealth.rcpch.ac.uk Last accessed 10/08/21

16 Samaritans (2019) Suicide Statistics Report — Latest statistics from the UK and Northern Ireland. Surrey: Samaritans. Available at
SamaritansSuicideStatsReport_2019_Full_report.pdf Last accessed 10/08/21

7 Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (2020) State of Child Health. London: RCPCH. Available at: stateofchildhealth.rcpch.ac.uk Last accessed 10/08/21

'8 Bould H, Mars B, Moran P, Biddle L, Gunnell D. Rising suicide rates among adolescents in England and Wales. Lancet 2019; 394: 116-7

19 Geulayov G, Casey D, McDonald KC, et al. Incidence of suicide, hospital-presenting non-fatal self-harm, and community-occurring non-fatal self-harm in adolescents in England
(the iceberg model of self-harm): a retrospective study. The lancet Psychiatry 2018; 5: 167-74

20 NHS Five Year Forward View. NHS (2014). Available Five Year Forward View (england.nhs.uk) Last accessed 02/09/21

1 NCISH Suicide in Children and Young People. NCISH (2017) Available NCISH | Suicide by children and young people in England - NCISH (manchester.ac.uk) Last accessed
12/08/21

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Groups highlighted to be at increased risk of death from suicide included young people who are bereaved, students,
looked after children, young people who identify as LGBT. Previous self-harm was a crucial indicator of risk with

around half of young people who had died by suicide having previously self-harmed.

Within Berkshire, children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing is a strategic priority across the system. It
is therefore important that this strategy and the work of the suicide prevention group collaborates with the system
to ensure complementary action. This includes the Berkshire West Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Reading, West
Berkshire and Wokingham for which priority 4 is to ‘Promote good mental health and wellbeing for all children and
young people’ Each of the three local authorities in the East (Bracknell Forest, Slough, and Windsor and Maidenhead)
also have a strategy addressing children and young people and/or mental health as a priority for their areas.

CCGs with system wide partners refresh their Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Local
Transformation Plans (CYP MH&WB LTP) and LTP’s cover investment within prevention, postvention and bereavement

support for children and young people.

Key data relevant for the work of this strategy are presented under each priority area for action. A full list of local data
around the risk factors in childhood and adolescent are presented in the suicide data deep-dive analysis JSNA.

Five areas for action have been identified for Berkshire based on local data and intelligence;,

. Experience of adversity or trauma

. The impact of COVID-19

. Neurodiversity

. Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer, Questioning and Ace (LGBTQ+)
. Transitions

Experience of adversity or trauma

The 0-25 suicide audit (2020) identified that adverse childhood experiences (ACE's) were present in 71% of the cases
(CDOP sample of 7 young people). In addition, the female suicide deaths deep-dive analysis (2021) found that ACE's
were a theme common to more than one of the women who died. There is no universally agreed definition of ACE's,
but studies addressing issues have converged on the list below, as outline by the Early Intervention Foundation?:

. physical abuse

. sexual abuse

. psychological abuse
. physical neglect

2 Adverse childhood experiences What we know, what we don't know, and what should happen next. Early Intervention Foundation (2020).
Available: adverse-childhood-experiences-summary (1).pdf. Last accessed 02/09/21

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



6V

. psychological neglect

. witnessing domestic abuse

. having a close family member who misused drugs or alcohol

. having a close family member with mental health problems

. having a close family member who served time in prison

. parental separation or divorce on account of relationship breakdown.

ACE's occur before the age of 18, however the effects are often experienced over the lifecourse. A toxic stress response
can be triggered by these experiences in the acute phase. Adversities can affect development in numerous ways,
with early exposures that are persistent over time more likely to lead to lasting impacts®. There is strong empirical
evidence that links ACE's with suicide across the lifecourse? %,

Although there isn't data available specific to ACE’s on a localised level, data relating to the numbers of Children in
Need give an indication of the numbers of children experiencing trauma and adversity across Berkshire. On the 31st
March 2020, nearly 7,000 children were identified as being in need across Berkshire, as shown in the table below. The
most common primary need, accounting for over half of cases, was abuse or neglect. This was followed by family
dysfunction and family being in acute stress which, combined, accounted for over 1,440 cases®.

Table 4: Children in need by primary need at initial
assessment, Berkshire 2020

Child Parents Family Family Socially un-

o . Al siod disability | disability in acute dysfunc- | acceptable . Low Absept
authority cases neglect | N X . income | parenting

orillness orillness stress tion behaviour
Bracknell 879 486 72 49 65 104 47 0 10
Forest
Reading 1451 713 111 68 225 131 44 C C
Slough 1589 1190 129 54 29 65 68 10 29
West - 930 397 100 12 136 198 38 0 49
Berkshire
Windsor and
Maidenhead 883 421 73 21 128 194 13 0 33
Wokingham 1039 519 96 52 124 49 C 0 35
:::;Sh"e 6771 3726 581 256 707 741 210 10 156

Source: Department for Education

= Adversity in childhood is linked to mental and physical health throughout life BMJ 2020; 371 doi: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m3048 (Published 28 October 2020)

2 Ports KA, Merrick MT, Stone DM, et al. Adverse Childhood Experiences and Suicide Risk: Toward Comprehensive Prevention. Am J Prev Med. 2017;53(3):400-403. doi:10.1016/j.
amepre.2017.03.015

» NHS Digital calculated using ONS mid-2020 population estimates

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Many children and young people who have experienced ACE's go on to lead healthy and productive lives. Protective
factors, such as having a stable and caring child-adult relationship and feeling connected with others can build
resilience. An enhancement of these factors has been shown to mitigate negative outcomes®. Across Berkshire
there are a wealth of services and interventions in place to prevent and mitigate the impact and reduce harm for
children and young people who are at risk of or have experienced trauma and adversity. This work is happening
across schools, police, NHS and voluntary sector organisations. Our role is therefore to complement this workstream
and highlight the link between ACEs and suicide risk.

Recommendation 2a:To raise awareness of the link between trauma and adversity, and suicide across the lifecourse.

Recovery from the COVID-19 Pandemic

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent lockdowns has raised concerns that children and young
people’s mental health will be adversely affected and will need to be closely monitored?. It has been noted that
outbreaks of suicidal thoughts have increased during lockdown, especially among young adults®. Additional
stressors during the pandemic may include fears that a family member or oneself will develop COVID-19, the impact
of bereavement, isolation, loneliness and loss of social supports, disruptions to care and support and fears about
accessing it, school closure and exam disruption, and exposure to domestic violence and family tensions?. Many of
these stressors are documented risk factors for suicide in children and young people and have potentially increased
the risk of children experiencing ACE's, therefore the impact must be monitored.

A COVID-19 flag has recently been introduced for RTSS data locally for Berkshire. Since this has been introduced,
no suicide cases have been flagged within the cohort of 0-25 as related to COVID-19, however there is a need to
continue to record and monitor this.

In response to the impact of the pandemic and concerns around mental and emotional wellbeing of children and
young people, all Berkshire local authorities have committed to a mental wellbeing campaign “Be Well: Berkshire
Emotional Wellbeing”. The campaign aims to mobilise younger residents and women at risk of suicide across Berkshire
to access support services, to help them stay mentally well during the Covid-19 pandemic and as we recover. Mental
health support is also offered through Kooth, an online counselling and emotional wellbeing platform. Within
Berkshire, the top presenting concerns in the year 2020/21 have been anxiety and stress, suicidal thoughts and self-
harm. There is a need to both ensure increased access to support as we recover from COVID-19 and ensure we link
with the wider system to prevent suicide risk.

Recommendation 2b: Continued investment into the Be Well campaign to encourage the importance of looking

% The evidence behind Adverse Childhood Experiences. Available: Evidence-based early years intervention - Science and Technology Committee - House of Commons
(parliament.uk) Last accessed 10/08/21

2 BMA. The impact of COVID-19 on mental health in England; Supporting 1 services to go beyond parity of esteem.
2020 Available [bma-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-mental-health-in-england.pdf] Last accessed 10/08/21

% Covid-19: Suicidal thoughts increased in young adults during lockdown, UK study finds BMJ 2020Available at ]Covid-19: Suicidal thoughts increased in young adults during
lockdown, UK study finds | The BMJ Last accessed 02/09/21

22 Holmes EA, O'Connor RC, Perry VH, et al. Multidisciplinary research priorities for the COVID19 pandemic: a call for action for mental health science.
The Lancet Psychiatry 2020; 7: 547- 60

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



0S

after emotional wellbeing, in addition to signposting to local mental health services and support in order to prevent
self-harm and suicide in children, young people, and women.

Neurodiversity

Neurodiversity was identified as a risk factor for suicide in the 0-25 suicide audit (2020), with further qualitative analysis
recommended of the impact of waiting for an autism assessment on children and young people’s mental health and
suicide risk. Neurodiversity refers to the different ways the brain works and interprets information. It is often used
as an umbrella term for a spectrum of conditions such as autism, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD),
dyslexia, dyspraxia, tourette syndrome and complex tic disorders. It is estimated that 1 in 7 people (approximately

15% of the UK population) are neurodiverse®.

It is well documented throughout literature that neurodiverse conditions can increase the risk of suicide, for both
adults and children and young people. NICE guidance recognises that people with autism are at higher risk of
suicide®'. Research also shows that late diagnosed adults appear to be at the highest risk of suicidal thoughts and

behaviours, demonstrating the importance of identification and addressing needs at the earliest opportunity?.

Data on the number of children and young people with a statement of special educational needs (SEN) or education,
health and care (EHC) plan for 2020/21 by primary need for pupils enrolled in schools and nurseries in Berkshire*
gives an indication of the number of children that are neurodiverse. The most consistent pattern to emerge is for
children with a primary need of Autistic Spectrum Disorder, with the majority of local authorities having higher
rates of children with SEN support and or/statements/EHC plans with this as their primary needs than the regional
average. The full local data on SEN and EHC plans can be found in the JSNA.

There are a number of neurodiversity projects taking place within Berkshire. This includes a service redesign for East
Berkshire Healthcare Children and Young People autism and/or ADHD services with a core focus to reduce waiting
times for assessments and thus access to support. In Berkshire West all referrals are triaged at the BHFT CAMHs
Common Point of Entry and referred to services as appropriate. Across Berkshire we have a wraparound offer of
support with the provision of pre-assessment and post-diagnosis support; in the East through GEMS and in the West
this is through Autism Berkshire, a voluntary sector organisation. There also exists a virtual Helpline, “SHaRON" that

provides support for parents and carers of neurodiverse children and young people in Berkshire.

A needs-led rather than diagnosis led approach has been adopted throughout Berkshire, which means that families
without diagnosis are also supported. This approach to neurodiversity allows for pre-diagnostic support to be put
in place for children and young people once needs become apparent, through interventions such as changing
environments to be more neurodiversity friendly and accessing peer networks. This support potentially reduces the
risk of suicide for neurodiverse children and young people as interventions can be put in place as soon as needs are
apparent and can reduce isolation experienced.

3 Autism and.. Oxford Health (2021). Available Autism and.. - Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust. Last accessed 26/08/21

31 NICE (2018). NICE guidance on preventing suicide in community and custodial settings [NG105]. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Available:
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng105. Last accessed 04/08/21

32 Supporting autistic children and young people through crises: Autistica. Available: https://www.autistica.org.uk/downloads/files/Crisis-resource-2020.pdf Last accessed
17/08/21

* Figures are for state-funded nursery, primary, secondary and special schools, non-maintained special schools and pupil referral units. They do not include independent schools

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Recommendation 2c: Support the system to adopt a needs-led approach for neurodiverse children and young
people, particularly in the prevention and early intervention arena, e.g. in schools and the community.

Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, questioning and ace (LGBTQ+)

Data on the LGBTQ+ community at a local level is very limited and there is a reliance on national survey data to
understand the needs of this group. Experimental statistics were published in May 2021 by the ONS looking at
sexual orientation in the UK in 2019 using data from the Annual Population Survey. Younger people (aged 16 to 24
were most likely to identify as lesbian, gay or bisexual (6.6% of all 16 to 24-year olds). Facts and figures presented by
Stonewall, a UK based LGBTQ+ charity include the following findings which are particularly relevant to the topic of
suicide in young LGBTQ+ people:

. Half of LGBTQ+ people said that they've experience depression in the last year

. 2/3 bisexual women and just over half of bisexual men having experienced anxiety

. Nearly half of LGBTQ+ pupils are bullied for being LGBTQ+ in Britain’s schools

. More than 4/5 transexual young people have self-harmed

. 3/5 lesbian, bisexual, and gay young people who are not transexual have self-harmed

. More than 2/5 transexual young people have attempted to take their own life

. 1/5 gay, lesbian and bisexual young people who are not transexual have attempted to take their own life.

The lack of local level data and intelligence surrounding the needs of LGBTQ+ children and young people makes this

group a priority for action, to better understand their needs, and reduce suicide risk.

Recommendation 2d: To improve data capture on sexual orientation for all ages in RTSS data and promote this

across the suicide prevention system.

Recommendation 2e: To work with local organisations and charities who work with the LGTBQ+ community on

suicide prevention.

Transitioning from childhood to adulthood

A key transitional period in the life course is when we transition from childhood to adulthood (aged 16-25). This
period is often characterised by changes and adjustments as young people are often expected to make key life
changing decisions as they move into higher and further education, employment and their living situations. This may
also be a time of new challenges, particularly around increasing independence and responsibility, and developing
self-esteem.

During this period, young people may also transition with regards to their mental health treatment, from children’s
mental health services to adult mental health services. Consequently, this can mean changes to treatment, support
workers and where they access services* *. This can also increase the likelihood of young people not attending and

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



TG

disengaging from services. There is therefore an increase of worsening mental health, and thus increased suicide risk
during this period. It is therefore of importance that this transition is managed carefully and effectively so that the
correct support and service is accessed and engaged with at the correct time.

University and work all present children and young people with new opportunities and challenges. For children and
young people that face added risk factors at an individual level, such as those who have experienced trauma, or have
special educational needs, they can be particularly vulnerable to experiencing a challenging transition** A successful
transition can help build resilience, self-confidence and self-esteem® which in turn can act as protective factors for
mental ill health and suicide risk.

Locally, The University of Reading can be used as an example to demonstrate these complexities. . The University’s
student services run a variety of programmes to aid the transition for students. However, the university reports that
the change from a home environment to campus life is sometimes a difficult transition, and is consequently a top
reported student concern. Moving from one locality to another means a loss of support systems and friends, and can
result in isolation.

There are additional complexities around transitioning medical care, if a student has existing difficulties, to a new
locality and being able to access assessments for neurodiversity, where diagnosis was not arranged before arrival, in
order to access the correct level of support.

Recommendation 2f: To raise awareness of the impact of the transitional period (children moving into adulthood)
on the mental health impact and the risks of suicide during this period for children and young people.

Recommendation 2g: To link with the work across the BOB and Frimley ICS on the ease of access to shared care
records across system partners for transition population (children moving into adulthood).

Recommendation 2h: To support higher education establishments within Berkshire, including universities to adopt
a needs-led approach to neurodiversity.

#  Bilsen J. Suicide and Youth: Risk Factors. Front Psychiatry. 2018;9:540. Published 2018 Oct 30. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00540
¥ Improving transition from children to adult mental health services Learning, messages and reflections from the LGA conference. Available at: https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/
default/files/documents/39.2%20Improving%20transition%20from%20children%20to%20adult%20mental%20health%20services%20WEB.pdf. Last accessed 09/08/21

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Priority area 2: Self-harm

Self-harm has been identified as a key priority and it's an area that the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group
have wanted to explore for a while, due to the high rates in some areas. Self-harm is defined as an intentional act of
self-poisoning or self-injury irrespective of the type of motivation or degree of suicidal intent. It is often difficult to say
whether the self-harm act is suicidal as a person’s reasons and intentions when self-harming can change over time.
According to the Samaritans, self-harm is often not suicidal but is a risk factor for later suicidality and young people
who self-harm are more likely than others to die from suicide®. Self-harm covers a wide range of behaviours that can
cause injury or harm in some way, including isolated and repeated events. These can include®;

cutting with sharp or blunt instruments (e.g. razor blades, broken glass, plastic utensils)
taking excessive amounts of over the counter medicines or prescribed drugs
poisoning or ingesting

scratching (with fingernails or other objects)

banging, hitting or punching themselves to break bones and bruise themselves
hair pulling,

causing bruises to the body,

interfering with wound healing,

sticking sharp objects into the body

inhaling substances (e.g. glue, aerosols, lighter fuel etc)

swallowing inappropriate objects (e.g. razor blades)

burning or scalding with hot water.

Every episode of self-harm is different, and people will experience it in different ways. Whatever method is used, the
underlying feelings and distress underlying the behaviour must be taken seriously.

Self-harm and suicide attempts can also be detrimental to an individual’s long-term physical health for example,
paracetamol poisoning is a major cause of acute liver failure. Overdosing in particular is extremely dangerous as it is
difficult to predict how your body will cope and can be impossible to reverse. Self-cutting can result in permanent
damage to tendons and nerves. Many actions to prevent and reduce suicide will have physical health benefits for
those who self-harm.

Self-harm is an important public health issue and often people keep self-harm a secret because of shame or fear of
it being seen or being labelled or judged. They may cover up their skin in order to avoid discussing the problem.
Sometimes there are psychological scars that are difficult to cope with, often unseen by others. Self-harm is not
typically an attempt at suicide but self-harm is an important risk factor for suicide.

% Samaritans: Pushed from pillar to post (2020). Available https://media.samaritans.org/documents/Samaritans_-_Pushed_from_pillar_to_post_web.pdf. Last accessed 16/09/21
3 https://wirralchildcare.proceduresonline.com/p_self_harm_suicide.html

Berkshire Suicide 37
Prevention Strategy



(A

Young people and self-harm

Public Health England (PHE) has also evidenced the continued increase in incidence of self-harm in the UK over the
past 20 years, unlike trends in completed suicide®. Levels of self-narm among young people in the UK are among the
highest rates in Europe. Trends in self-harm rates show that there has been an increase in self-harm, especially among
young women where self-harm is more common. According to PHE, those who self-harm in mid-late adolescence
potentially face increased risk of developing mental health issues.

Analysis of data from the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children survey for England (aged 11-15 years) conducted
in 2014 found that 22% of 15 year olds reported that they have ever self-harmed. In addition, nearly three times
as many girls as boys reported that they had ever self-harmed (32% of girls compared to 11% of boys). Findings
from this survey also found that the likelihood of self-harming varied by socioeconomic status and structure of
households, with incidence of self-harming associated with lower family influence®.

Establishing an accurate prevalence of self-harm is difficult to precisely determine. This is because there is a “hidden”
population of young people who self-harm in the community but do not present to local services for treatment.
This is illustrated in the Iceberg model of self-harm, in that for every young person that presents to hospital for self-
harm there are at least 10 further individuals who do not present at hospital for self-harm. At the tip of the iceberg
are suicides, which are highly visible, beneath are higher rates of hospital-treated self-harm and at the base are very
common but hidden self-harm (Hawton, 2019).

Figure 9: Iceberg model
of self-harm and suicide A Suicide

in young people Self-harm

(University of Oxford, 2019) (presenting to
clinical services)

Tt

Self-harm in
the community
(not presenting
to clinical
services)

¥ Public Health England definitions
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/self%20harm#page/6/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000001/ati/102/are/E06000047/iid/21001/age/1/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1
¥ https//www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-behaviour-in-school-age-children-hbsc-data-analysis

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Only a small proportion of young people who have harmed themselves report seeking help from medical or
psychological services. There needs to be a greater understanding on where people can get appropriate and timely
support for self-harm, as well as fully understanding what may prevent this group from accessing support.

NHS England continues to work to ensure that every person who presents at an emergency department for self-harm
receives a psychosocial assessment and is directed to appropriate support. And within South Central Ambulance
Service (SCAS) a steering group is in place to evaluate training from an expert reference group to adapt and adopt
content to different audiences, including universal clinician, social care and voluntary sector.

Understanding self-harm and its link to suicide risk

Those who repeat self-harm are at significantly greater risk of completing suicide than those who have a single
episode. It can be difficult to differentiate behaviours where there is an intent to die (e.g. cutting with suicidal intent)
from those where there is a pattern of self-harm with no suicidal intent (e.g. habitual self-cutting). Any intentional
harm to the body counts as self-harm.’Minor’self-harm can lead to progressively become more serious or frequent.
Sometimes people harm themselves in ways that are dangerous, and they might accidently kill themselves (e.g.
cutting too deep on certain parts of the body or overdosing). Young people in particular may lack judgement about
the level of self-harm they have applied and this could lead to irreversible harm or accidental death.

The Berkshire Suicide Audit found that 21% of people who died by suicide had a history of self-harm, and previous
self-harm is flagged in local RTSS data as a feature in the relevant medical history of those who have died.

For these reasons, it is important to address concerns around self-harm early, support people to find alternatives and
distractions to self-harm and identify what triggers self-harm. People who self-harm can also be supported to stay
safe if they do self-harm (e.g. having a self-harm first aid kit available and pain relief, avoiding certain parts of the body
etc) as well as when to avoid self-harming (e.g. when tired, or under the influence of alcohol). It might not be possible
for someone who self-harms to stop doing so immediately, but they should be encouraged to get help.

Recommendation 3a: Decrease the stigma related to self-harm and encourage help seeking behaviour and
self-care.

People self-harm for a range of reasons, for some it is a way of coping with difficult or distressing feelings, but
research has shown that long term self-harm does not help to reduce that distress. Some of the typical reasons why

someone may self-harm are shown in table 5 below.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



€a

Table 5: Reasons for self-harm

Reason Examples

Being bullied, having difficulties at work or school, having difficult relationships with friends or family,
coming to terms with sexuality, coping with expectations, wanting to have a break from difficult
things in life, money worries, being in contact with the criminal justice system, housing, loneliness,
excessive screen time, cyberbullying, lower family income, family breakdown, student debt

Social problems

Physical, emotional or sexual abuse, grief after death of a close family member or friend, having a

Trauma . . .
miscarriage, have lost a loved one through suicide

Having repeated thoughts or voices telling them to self-harm, disassociating (losing touch with who
Psychological causes | they are and with their surroundings), borderline personality disorder, a way of punishing themselves,
low self-esteem, struggling with stress, anxiety or depression

Express difficult

X Trying to feel in control, reliving unbearable tension
feelings

Source: Health Service Executive Ireland and Mental Health Foundation

Although the data shows that the majority of self-harm occurs among people aged under 18 and is strongly
associated with puberty, especially in girls, self-harm can affect people of any age, social status gender identity,
sexuality, race or culture. People who self-harm may have a diagnosable mental health condition or they may have
none. There are many people at risk of self-harm and these include:

Women

Young people

Older people

People who have or are recovering from drug and alcohol problems

People who are lesbian, gay, bisexual or gender reassigned

Socially deprived people living in urban areas

Women of South-Asian ethnicity

Individual factors (e.g. personality traits, family experiences, life events, exposure to trauma, cultural beliefs,

social isolation and income)

Societal factors (e.g. education, housing, unemployment rates).

Source: Public Health England, 2021
There are some young people who are at more risk of self-harm (e.g. victims of abuse) because they are more at risk
of anxiety and depression. And although self-harm appears to be less frequent in adults, self-harm can continue into

adulthood, and certain methods of self-harm are associated with a greater risk of later suicide (Hawton 2012).

Recommendation 3b: Help friends, family and professionals understand the physical and emotional signs of self-
harm, how they can help and where they can get support.

Recommendation 3c: Explore the impact of self-harm on parents and siblings on their own mental health and wellbeing.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Hospital admissions for self-harm

Self-harm is one of the top five causes of acute hospital admissions in the UK (PHE, 2021). PHE state that those who
self-harm have a 1 in 6 chance of repeat attendance at A&E within the year and one study showed a subsequent
suicide rate of 0.7% in the first year which is 66 times the suicide rate in the general population®. This means that

someone who has self-harmed is more likely to die by suicide compared to someone who has never self-harmed.

The data below looks at the number of young people aged 10 to 24 who were admitted to hospital as a result of self-
harm (primary reason for admission). This counts number of admissions and not persons, a person may be admitted
on multiple occasions during each time period. Indicators based on hospital admission may be influenced by local
variation in referral and admission practices as well as variation in incidence. Data does not include attendances at
Accident and Emergency which do not result in an admission.

During 2019/20, there were 705 admissions of children and young people from Berkshire to hospital as a result of
self-harm. Rates for each local authority since 2011/12 can be seen in the charts below. Rates of admission were
significantly lower than the regional average for children and young people living in Slough, and Windsor and
Maidenhead. Rates were higher than the national average but comparable to the regional average in Bracknell Forest
and Wokingham. In Bracknell Forest, rates jumped from 2014/15 to 2015/16 and have risen again between 2018/19
and 2019/20. Rates in Wokingham, however, have continued to remain above the national average. Rates in Reading
and West Berkshire show a similar pattern to each other, increasing up to a peak in 2016/17, prior to falling back in
line with national and regional averages.

Figure 11: Hospital admissions for self-harm (10-24-year olds)

. A MR coooscososs England
Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm e

(10-24 year olds) Berkshire East Local Authorities

............... South East Region
Slough
Bracknell Forest

Windsor & Maidenhead

1000
- 800
o

=

(@)

(@)

] 600
o

[}

g

©
ie)

2 400
1)

©
o

c

©

S

% 200
>

—

(@]

o

=

2011/12 2012/13  2013/14  2014/15 2015/16  2016/17 2017/18  2018/19  2019/20

Source: Public Health England

0 Fingertips https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/self%20harmi#page/6/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000001/ati/102/are/E06000047/iid/21001/age/1/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/cid/4/tbm/1

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



14°]

. L England
Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm South Fast Region

(10-24 year olds) Berkshire West Local Authorities Wokingharn

Reading
West Berkshire

800
600
400

200

Directly standardised rate per 100,000

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14  2014/15 2015/16  2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Source: Public Health England

Data since 2011/12 has shown that admissions are highest in the 15-19-year-old age band, accounting for 54% of
admissions (380 admissions) during 2019/20.

Recommendation 3d: Regularly review local intelligence and data on self-harm at the Berkshire Suicide Prevention
Steering Group, ensuring additional relevant data from a wide range of sources are included (e.g. development of
RTSS to include self-harm, ambulance service data, primary care and schools).

Mental health and self-harm

Mental health problems such as anxiety, depression, ADHD and eating disorders are common in young people who
present at hospital for self-harm or who die by suicide*'. Other important factors present in this cohort are; alcohol

misuse, emerging personality disorder, low self-esteem, poor problem solving and perfectionism.

Recommendation 3e: Working with Mental Health Support Teams (MHSTs), ensure a continued focus on the

prevention of self-harm by increasing resilience and general coping skills and support for those who self-harm.

41 https//www.psych.ox.ac.uk/news/self-harm-in-children-and-adolescents-a-major-health-and-social-problem-of-our-time

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Priority area 3: Female suicide deaths

Within England and Wales, there has been a growing increase in female deaths by suicide. In 2019, the suicide
rate among females and girls was 5.3 deaths per 100,000, up from 5.0 in 2018 and the highest since 2004*. Risk
and protective factors for suicide can affect men and women differently, therefore understanding the relationship
between gender and these risk factors is of importance for effective suicide prevention. For example, risk factors such
as domestic abuse disproportionally affect women®.

Within Berkshire, male suicide rates are higher, but importantly have been decreasing, while the female rates have
increased. The increase of female suicides seen locally is detailed above. Throughout the strategy there is due
attention to males throughout the other principles and priorities, and many of the actions discussed within this
section are also applicable to males.

The findings of the females deep-dive review have informed this priority, identifying three key areas for
recommendation based on local need and gaps in intelligence - the perinatal period, domestic abuse and parental/
carer stress. Other risk factors identified through the female suicide deep dive are covered within this strategy in the
other four priority areas.

Perinatal mental health

In Berkshire, the female deep-dive and the work of the suicide prevention group has highlighted a gap in our
knowledge on the perinatal period.

The perinatal period refers to pregnancy and the first year following the birth of a child. Perinatal mental health
problems are mental health problems that occur during this period. They affect up to 20% of new and expectant
mothers and include a wide range of conditions including depression, anxiety, and psychosis. If left untreated,
perinatal mental health issues can have significant and long-lasting impacts on the woman, the child, and the wider
family. The latest confidential enquiry into maternal deaths in the UK and Ireland (2019) found that suicide is the
second largest cause of direct deaths in mothers occurring during or within the 42 days at the end of pregnancy*.

Research has shown that in some mental disorders, such as postnatal depression, bipolar disorder and postnatal
psychosis, there is an increased risk of suicidal ideation, suicidal attempt, or suicide®. Prevalence of mental illness
varies by maternal age, with many studies finding a significant correlation between young age and depression or
anxiety during pregnancy. Some studies have also found high rates of mental illness amongst older mothers® .
Agencies across the maternity system involved in the care of expectant and new mothers must carefully monitor and
early identify suicide risk and potential risk factors, to reduce suicide risk within this group.

4

Saving lives, improving mothers'care 2019 report (2019) Available MBRRACE-UK Maternal Report 2019 - WEB VERSION.pdf (ox.ac.uk). Last accessed 02/09/21

Orsolini, Laura et al.“Suicide during Perinatal Period: Epidemiology, Risk Factors, and Clinical Correlates.” Frontiers in psychiatry vol. 7 138. 12 Aug. 2016,
doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00138

Biaggi A, Conroy S, Pawlby S, Pariante CM. Identifying the women at risk of antenatal anxiety and depression: A systematic review. J Affect Disord. 2016 Feb;191:62-77.
doi: 10.1016/jjad.2015.11.014. Epub 2015 Nov 18. PMID: 26650969; PMCID: PMC4879174.

Orsolini, Laura et al. “Suicide during Perinatal Period: Epidemiology, Risk Factors, and Clinical Correlates.” Frontiers in psychiatry vol. 7 138. 12 Aug. 2016,
doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00138

5

44

4

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



GG

Recommendation 4a: Link with the BOB and Frimley local maternity system on suicide risk in the perinatal period.

In guidance for commissioners of perinatal mental health services, the Joint Commissioning Panel for Mental Health,
drew together data from various research into the prevalence of perinatal mental health conditions to provide the
overview of prevalence shown in the table below. By applying the national prevalence estimates to the total number
of maternities in Berkshire, we can estimate numbers at a local level. These estimates do not consider socioeconomic
factors or any other factors that may cause local variation in prevalence. We cannot estimate the overall number
of women in Berkshire with a perinatal mental health condition, as some women will have more than one of these

conditions.

Table 6: Rates of perinatal psychiatric disorder per 1,000

maternities
g:r:nfii;illgi(:\o (:’(::etl Berkshire Estimated number of
Condition 9 maternities (ONS, women in Berkshire
for Mental Health . "
2019) with condition
report)
Postpartum psychosis 2 21
Chronic serious mental illness 2 21
Severe depressive illness 30 311
: — 713
Mllq—moderate depressive illness and 100-150 1,037-1555
anxiety states
Post-traumatic stress disorder 30 311
Adjustment disorder and distress 150-300 1,555-3,110

Source: Joint Commissioning Panel for Mental Health, 2012/Office for National Statistics 1

Women who lack social support have been found to be at increased risk of antenatal and postnatal depression.
Having a poor relationship with a partner is also a risk factor for postnatal depression*. The number of births which
were outside of marriage or civil partnership and sole registered (by one parent only) in Berkshire during 2019 was
375. Risk factors outlined are likely to have been further affected by COVID-19 and the lockdown measures, and thus
the potential to increase suicide risk, therefore should be monitored going forward.

Recommendation 4b: To explore data collection on the perinatal period; risk factors and the link to suicide including
data captured in the RTSS.

“ NICE (2020) Postnatal and Antenatal depression — what are the risk factors? Available Risk factors | Background information | Depression - antenatal and postnatal | CKS | NICE.
Last accessed 26/08/21

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Domestic abuse

The female deep-dive analysis for Berkshire also highlighted a gap in our knowledge on the links between suicide and
domestic abuse locally. The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 came into force on the 30th April 2021, making vital changes
to the act, going beyond criminal justice and encompassing family courts, housing and health, acknowledging the
impact of domestic abuse on victims and survivors lives®. It is widely evidenced that domestic abuse victims and
survivors are more at risk of suicide and suicidal thoughts. ONS figures estimate that approximately 2.3 million adults
aged 16 to 74 years within England and Wales experience domestic abuse in the last year (ending March 2020);
the true scale of this however remains unknown. Research focussing upon more than 3,500 women supported by
Refuge, a charity supporting victims of domestic abuse, has shown that almost a quarter (24%) of those supported
by the charity had felt suicidal, and 83% reported feelings of hopelessness and despair. Domestic abuse and suicide
risk are clearly linked, therefore mental health services and those working with victims of domestic abuse should
work together to mitigate this risk.

Recommendation 4c: Promote the need for clear pathways and knowledge exchange between domestic abuse
and mental health services.

Transforming Health and Social Care in Kent and Medway partnership (STP) have researched the link between
domestic abuse and suicide in their county. They found that suicide victims were categorised into four cohorts -
current victims of domestic abuse, those who had historically experienced domestic abuse, perpetrators, and young
people living in households where domestic abuse was occurring®.

Children witness to or living in a household where domestic abuse is present is a highly traumatic experience and
can lead to lasting harms and risk-taking behaviours throughout the lifecourse. Perpetrators, as found in Kent, are
also at risk of suicide, where the perpetrator is currently under investigation, or is being convicted of the abuse. It
is clear therefore, that domestic abuse has a profound impact for those experiencing, witnessing and perpetrating,
increasing riskimmediately, and throughout the life course. Within Berkshire, further data collection is required locally
in order gain a greater understanding of the links between domestic abuse and suicide for those impacted.

Recommendation 4d: Improve data collection of domestic abuse data in RTSS.

Recommendation 4f: Include domestic abuse indicators in the Berkshire suicide audit to better understand the link
between domestic abuse and suicide

Recommendation 4g: Provide information to domestic abuse services on how to respond to concerns where
clients may be self-harming or considering suicide (whether the client is a victim, survivor, perpetrator or child or
young person)

+ Domestic Abuse Act 2021. Womens Aid. Available Domestic Abuse Act - Womens Aid. Last accessed 07/09/2021
* Highlighting the relationship between domestic abuse and suicide: Progress and next steps (2021) Transforming Health and Social Care in Kent and Medway

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



9%

Parental or carer stress

Parental or carer stress has been identified through the female deep-dive audit as a key risk factor for suicide.
Anecdotal feedback within acute hospital teams in 2020 found that these stresses are particularly pertinent when
parenting neurotypical children, and suicide attempts amongst older people are often linked to carer strain.

Parental stress, anxiety and depression has also been found to have increased over the period of the COVID-19
lockdown. The key concerns highlighted by parents in this report was around struggling with competing demands
of meeting their child’s needs, home-schooling and work commitments. Data has shown that the parents and carers
from single adult households, and lower income families (<16,000 p.a), and those who have children with special
educational needs and/or neurodevelopmental differences have been particularly vulnerable to elevated mental
health symptoms*. It is widely accepted that mental ill health is a risk factor for suicidal ideation and behaviour,

therefore this increase in mental health symptoms must be acknowledged and monitored°.

There are a wide range of services within Berkshire that support parents and carers. Family information services are
available, which provide free and impartial information and signposting for families. Easily accessible resources and
information around available services are key for parents and carers accessing the support they need at the correct
time, and the work of this strategy should consider this forum as a means to prevent suicide risks in this group.

Recommendation 4h: Raise awareness of the information, resources and services available for parents and carers
who are experiencing stress, through inputting into local campaigns.

4 [1] Parental mental health worsens under new national COVID restrictions (2021). Available Parental mental health worsens under new national COVID-19 restrictions |
University of Oxford Last accessed 26/08/21
0 Samaritans research briefing: Gender and Suicide (2021). Available ResearchBriefingGenderSuicide_2021_v7.pdf (samaritans.org) Last accessed 02/09/21

46 Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Priority area 4: Economic factors

Impact of COVID-19

Some people are more economically or financially vulnerable than others, and this number is on the rise. Individuals
who are young, low-paid, Black, in self-employment and those with low education levels or live in large families have
been disproportionately affected by the current COOVID-19 pandemic. These groups are more likely to have lost
their jobs, not be working any hours or had their pay cut®'.

During the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, the number of people with low financial resilience (e.g. people with high
levels of debt, low savings or erratic earnings) has increased by a third from 10.7 million to 14.2 million, representing
more than a quarter of the UK adult population®2. The COVID-19 pandemic has had a huge impact on employment
and income, with some survey respondents expecting to struggle to make ends meet and experience financial
hardship. They may need to rely on foodbanks or take on additional debt in order to meet the shortfall. In comparison,
some other workers have been able to work from home and save money on commuting costs. Around 48% of adults
have not been financially affected by COVID-19 and 14% have seen improvements to their financial position.

The chart below illustrates how the redundancy rate (persons) has risen from 3.9% in Feb-April 2020 to 5.5% in May
—July 2020, a sharp rise to 13.3% between Aug-Oct 2020 and a slight drop to 11% between Nov 2020 and January
2021 in the UK. The redundancy rate is the ratio of the redundancy level for the given quarter to the number of

employees in the previous quarter, multiplied by 1,000.

Figure 12
UK Redundancy rate: ratio of redundancy level to — Females
the number of employees by sex, Nov 2017- April 2021 —————— Males
——— Persons
14
12
10
g
5\ 8
a
S 6
(]
o
3 4
g 2
(&)
= 0
S S T S S S O S AR
\fm v"(P »}\w o‘"& wa vﬁo > d;» §o°w vvﬁ‘@ o d.;» s"’w vﬁo

Quarter

Source: PHE Wider Impacts of COVID-19 on health (WICH) monitoring tool

°1 COVID-19 recession is having a disproportionate impact on most vulnerable. LSA (2020) Available: https.//www.Ise.ac.uk/News/Latest-news-from-LSE/2020/h-August-20/
COVID-19-recession-is-having-a-disproportionate-impact-on-the-most-vulnerable Last accessed: 09/09/21
°2 Financial lives 2020 survey. FCA (2020) Available: https://www.fca.org.uk/publications/research/financial-lives-2020-survey-impact-coronavirus Last accessed 09/09/21

Berkshire Suicide 47
Prevention Strategy



LS

In the past, periods of economic uncertainty have seen increases in suicide rates, particularly among men. Economic
factors, particularly unemployment have been shown as strong risk factors of suicide (e.g. Lewis G and Sloggett A,
BMJ 1998; 317:1283). Suicide rates increased from a record low in 2006 post the economic recession suggesting the
national recession could have been an influencing factor in the increase in suicides. Studies have found that local
areas with greater rises in unemployment had also experienced higher rises in male suicides®.

The government’s furlough scheme has helped employers to pay peoples wages in order to reduce financial
insecurity during the pandemic and period of economic upheaval. On the 30th March 2021, 49,700 jobs were
furloughed across Berkshire and there has been a total of 164,500 jobs furloughed in total since 23rd March 2020
across Berkshire. The cumulative number of jobs on furlough across Berkshire local authorities ranges from 25,800
for people living in Windsor and Maidenhead to 31,400 in Slough. Figures are based on the local authority of the
business and not residence.

Table 7 Cumulative number of jobs on furlough at 31st March
2021 (local authority of business)

Local Authority Cumulative number of jobs on furlough
Bracknell Forest 23,100

Reading 31,300

Slough 31,400

West Berkshire 26,700

Windsor and Maidenhead 25,800

Wokingham 26,200

Berkshire total 164,500

Source: HM Revenue and Customs

During the first national lockdown, women and young people were more likely to be furloughed and are more likely
to face financial difficulties as recovery progresses (Women's Budget Group, 2020, IFS, 2020, IFS 2020a). In the lowest
earning 10% of employees, 80% were employed in a sector that was shut down or are not able to work from home,
compared to 25% in the highest earning 10% (IFS) - (*Note this excludes key workers).

3 Barr et al BMJ 2012; 345:5142

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Debt and poor mental health

Unmanageable debt is a risk factor for suicidal behaviour, with those in debt three times as likely to consider suicide
than people not in problem debt (Mental Health Policy Institute (MMHPI), 2018). Unemployment, unmanageable
debt and job insecurity are also risk factors for suicidal behaviour.

Across England, more than 1.5 million people are experiencing both problem debt and mental health problems.
An estimated 46% of people in problem debt also have a mental health problem. Almost one in five (18%) people
with a mental health problem are in problem debt. Financial problems are a common cause of stress and anxiety
with people in this position not asking for help due to stigma around being in debt. Suicide can be seen as a way
out of debt for some people who are struggling and more than 100,000 people in England attempt suicide while in
problem debt each year (MMHPI) (2018).

Long-term factors such as persistent poverty and financial insecurity can put people at an risk of becoming suicidal,
as can sudden triggers like the intimidating and threatening letters people receive from lenders. Providing debt
management advice and support to people in debt will help to reduce an individual's risk of death by suicide,
especially if they are experiencing poor mental health. There is a lot of support and help available for people, but

awareness can be low.

Recommendation 5a: \Work with colleagues to raise awareness of the risk between debt, mental health and suicide
risk among frontline professionals and the wider public. Awareness raising needs to;
. reduce the stigma of 'being in debt’and signpost to access debt and benefit advice and support. this
information also needs to be shared with frontline professionals
. encourage people in debt to reach out for help to reduce impact on mental health
encourage people with poor mental health to reach out for debt advice

Recommendation 5b: Support frontline professionals to feel comfortable about talking about debt and financial
problems and the link to poor mental health and suicide risk and what support is available.

Recommendation 5c: Support Berkshire local authorities with a single point of access information site around

money matters.

People who had a long-term condition or disability were three times as likely to have fallen behind on paying their
council tax, compared to those without. People who receive an income-related benefit (e.g. universal credit) were
almost four times as likely to have fallen behind on council tax compared to those not receiving benefits.

Recommendation 5d: Ensure compassionate debt collection. Make sure the process is supportive and aims to

steer residents to places that can provide help and support. Support vulnerable groups at increased risk of debt
including people with long-term conditions or disabilities.

> Asilent killer. Money and mental health (2018) https.//www.moneyandmentalhealth.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/A-Silent-Killer-Report.pdf Last accessed 09/09/21

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



89

Benefits

National government data shows that there is over £15 billion pounds of unclaimed benefits, in addition to unclaimed
Universal Credit available. This could mean that many individuals and families are living on less money than they need
to be and unnecessarily finding it difficult paying priority bills (e.g. heating and food). Barriers preventing people
claiming the benefits they are entitled to include;

a lack of awareness about what benefits are available and the claims process.
a perceived stigma around benefits creating a reluctance to consider them. This has particularly affected
people who have recently been struggling financially during COVID-19 pandemic.

. a lack of access to or no IT skills which are necessary to access services online (e.g., digital applications)

The proportion of the population aged 16 to 64 across Berkshire who were claiming benefits during May 2021 was
just under 5%. This is the same as the figure for the South East Region as a whole. There is some variation between
Berkshire Local Authorities with the claimant counts being higher in Slough (8.4%) and Reading (6.4%).

Table 8: Berkshire Benefit claimants May 2021

Bracknell West Windsor and

Forest Reading Slough Berkshire | Maidenhead e R R soutthiEast

Benefit
claimant 3,145 6,845 7,965 3,545 3,775 3,135 274,810
count

Percentage
of 16-64
year old
population

Source: ONS Crown Copyright Reserved [from Nomis on 2 July 2021]

Recommendation 5e: \Work with key partners to actively promote services that provide help around navigating the

benefits system and potentially increasing people’s incomes.

Recommendation 5f: Make sure that all parts of the health service where patients showing suicidal intent first
make contact, are signposted or triaged appropriately using a process that includes debts and other economic
stresses as risk factors.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Socioeconomic disadvantage and suicidal behaviour

The Berkshire suicide audit 2018 found that the majority of people with financial issues prior to death had ‘other
debts, such as student loan, loans and credit cards. Other reasons for financial issues included utility bills/rent, work
related issues (business accounts, sick pay stopped), drug debt, gambling, bankruptcy and being the victim of a
scam. The Berkshire Suicide Audit also showed that between 2007 and 2018, the percentage of suicides that were
amongst people who were unemployed ranged from 11% to 38%. If we consider this against the fact that 4% of
the overall population in Berkshire are unemployed, then people who are unemployed are over-represented in the
number of suicides in Berkshire.

Figure 15: Financial issue (s) prior to death across audit years

Percentage
2012/13 - 2014/15 - 2016/17 -
2007 -2009 | 2008-2010 | 2009-2011 2013/14 2015/16 2017/18
Total 9% 6% <5% 24% 27% 13%

Source: Berkshire Suicide Audit (2018)

It is well recognised that the reasons why people die by suicide are complex, arising from a wide range of
psychological, social, economic and cultural risk factors. People who are socioeconomically disadvantaged or who
live in areas of socioeconomic deprivation have an increased risk of suicidal behaviour. Features of socioeconomic
disadvantage include; low income, unmanageable debt, poor housing conditions, lack of educational qualifications,
unemployment and living in a socioeconomically deprived area®. What is more, poor mental health makes it harder

to deal with money problems and vice versa®™.

Recommendation 5g: Work with system partners on the early identification and support of people who are at
increased risk of debt and financial concerns (e.g. unemployed or people with long-term conditions) as early as

possible and offer effective support to manage personal finances through appropriate referral pathways.

* Dying from inequality. Samaritans (2017). Available:https://media.samaritans.org/documents/Samaritans_Dying_from_inequality_report_-_summary.pdf. Last accessed
09/09/21

% Money and mental health, the facts. Money and mental health (2019). Available: https://www.moneyandmentalhealth.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Money-and-mental-
health-the-facts-1.pdf. Last accessed 09/09/21

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



6S

Gambling

Gambling related harm is a risk factor for suicide and is a growing area of public health concern. In 2019/20, 11% of
gamblers contacting the National Gambling Helpline said they had experienced suicidal thoughts, either currently
orin the past®’.

Additional funding is being made available to support treatment services for problem gambling and to monitor the
impact of COVID-19 on gambling behaviour. Gambling operators are putting in place additional measures to increase
protections for those who might be at risk of gambling harm. These were clear themes within the National Strategy
to reduce Gambling Harms® although there has been little progress on addressing gambling related suicide.

PHE have plans to publish an evidence review on gambling harms on the prevalence of gambling and associated
health harms and their social and economic burden. This work has been put on hold due to COVID-19.%°

The National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Safety in Mental Health's 2021 report on suicide by middle-
age men® found a number of findings associating suicide with economic precursors. Overall, 57% of men were
experiencing economic problems including unemployment, financial problems, or problems finding stable
accommodation. Almost a third of men included in the study were unemployed at the time of death, with almost
half of these unemployed for over 12 months. Twice the proportion of men were living in the most deprived areas of
England (27%) compared to those living in the lest deprived areas (14%). Alcohol and drug misuse were particularly
common amongst men who were unemployed, as it was amongst those who were bereaved, or had a history of
violence or self-harm.

Recommendation 5h: Monitor local data and intelligence on levels of problem gambling within Berkshire and its
link to suicide.

7 Suicide awareness and prevention training.

Gamcare (2020https://www.gamcare.org.uk/news-and-blog/news/gambling-charity-and-samaritans-launch-bespoke-suicide-awareness-and-prevention-training/

Reducing gambling harms. Gambling Commission (2021) https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/about-us/reducing-gambling-harms Last accessed 09/09/21

% Progress report on the national strategy to reduce gambling harms. Gambling Commission (2021)
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/print/absg-progress-report-on-the-national-strategy-to-reduce-gambling-harms-year Last accessed 09/09/21

& Suicide by middle aged men. NCISH (2021). Available NCISH | Suicide by middle-aged men - NCISH (manchester.ac.uk). Last accessed 02/09/21

58

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Priority area 5: Supporting those who are bereaved
or affected by suicide

Those who are bereaved by suicide face a higher risk of mental ill-health, suicide attempts and death by suicide.®" %>
©The Support After Suicide Partnership summarises the particular challenges which mean that those bereaved by
suicide are less likely to receive support from family and friends than others going through a bereavement. ¢ Sudden
deaths can lead to a complex bereavement, with those bereaved by suicide often experiencing particularly intense
shock, as well as challenges linked to the stigma of suicide.®> These stigmatising factors can mean the bereaved person
is avoided or feels judged, and connections with social and support networks are weakened. People’s awkwardness
in discussing death is often magnified when the death is by suicide, and this can leave the person who is bereaved
feeling especially isolated. Conversely, high interest in the suicide — from communities and from the media — can
make it difficult for people to grieve in private.

Experiences of bereavement affect everyone in different ways but is usually characterised by grief. Grief is a process
that people go through as they gradually adjust to loss. Again, grief is experienced differently by different people
with people often moving in and out of the stages of grief and the range of associated emotions. Grief is an entirely
normal process and there is no time limit on how long grief lasts. However, sometimes people experience grief in a

way that, rather than becoming manageable overtime, worsens and affect day-to-day living for a long time.

Throughout this strategy we have seen how bereavement can be a key factor contributing to death by suicide.
Bereavement is highlighted in the Berkshire Suicide Audit, the Berkshire deep-dive into female suicides, and The
National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Safety in Mental Health's reports into suicide amongst both children
and young people and middle-age men.

Bereavement by suicide can be particularly devasting to the lives of those around the person who has died. People
bereaved by suicide are at a greater risk of suicide themselves. Bereavement by suicide was highlight in 6% of
subsequent suicides in the Berkshire Suicide Audit (2018).

In 2020, Suicide Bereavement UK published a report entitled'From Grief to Hope: The collective voice of those bereaved
or affected by suicide in the UK! ¢ The report lays out key findings and recommendation based on an online survey
completed by over 7,000 people who have been bereaved by suicide. The number of people responding to the
survey increased steadily by age band, peaking at age 45-54 before dropping off more rapidly for the 55-64 and 65+
age groups. 97% of respondents were White. Of non-White respondent, the majority (47%) reported their ethnicity
as ‘multiple/mixed’ 89% identified as heterosexual and 75% were in paid employment. 33% had been bereaved by
more than 1 suicide. The key survey findings are summarised in the following table below.

1 Qin P, Agerbo E and Mortenson PB (2002) Suicide risk in relation to family history of completed suicide and psychiatric disorders:
a nested case-control study based on longitudinal registers. Lancet 360: 1126-1130.

2 Pitman et al (2014) Effects of suicide bereavement on mental health and suicide risk The Lancet Psychiatry, 1(1): 86-94 http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpsy/ article/
PIIS2215-0366(14)70224-X/fulltext

% Pitman et al (2016) Bereavement by suicide as a risk factor for suicide attempt: a cross-sectional national UKwide study of 3,432 young bereaved adults. BMJ Open 6:6009948.
doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2015-009948 http://bmjopen.bmj. com/content/6/1/e009948

% Finding_the_Words.pdf (supportaftersuicide.org.uk)

 Pitman et. Al. (2016) The stigma perceived by people bereaved by suicide and other sudden deaths: a cross-sectional UK study of 3,432 bereaved adults. Journal of
Psychosomatic Research 87:22-29.

% From Grief to Hope: The collective voice of those bereaved or affected by suicide in the UK Suicide Bereaved UK (2020). Available display.aspx (manchester.ac.uk)
Last accessed 02/09/21

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



09

Table 9: Key findings from Suicide Bereavement UK’s 2020 report

Topic Finding
82% reported that suicide had a moderate or major impact on their lives
Serious adverse consequences included relationship break-up, unemploy-
Impact ment and finical problems
Over a third reported mental health problems with this been particularly
common for women
8% reported self-harming
. 38% had considered taking their own life
Link to
self-harm
and suicide 8% had made a suicide attempt
36% of those making a suicide attempt did so over a year after being
bereaved by suicide
The most common relationship reported was the loss of a friend to suicide
Relationship
to deceased Participants who had lost friends were more likely to have experienced
multiple suicides and often reported feeling overlooked by services
60% did not access support following a suicide
Accessing Over a third did not know wh fservi labl
support ver a third did not know what types of services were available
62% perceived the provision of local bereavement support to be inadequate
Immediate, proactive support is important
Some, not always ready to receive help straight away, said that information
Support should be presented in an easily accessible format such as a booklet or
requested person to contact for support when they were ready

Ongoing bereavement support should be available with a follow up at 3, 6,
12, or 18 months after the suicide occurred

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Source: Suicide Bereavement UK, From Grief to Hope, 2020

Survivors of Bereavement by Suicide (SoBS) is a national charity set up to offer support to adults bereaved by suicide.
It is the only organisation offering peer-to-peer support to all those over the age of 18, impacted by suicide loss in
the UK. It helps those bereaved by suicide to support each other, at the time of their loss and in the months and years
that follow. SoBS offers peer led support groups, online virtual support groups, a national telephone helpline, online
community forum and email support. It offers a unique and distinct service for bereaved adults across the UK, run by
the bereaved for the bereaved. Suicide recognises no social, ethnic or cultural boundaries and neither does SOBS. The
helpline and groups are open to all survivors of bereavement by suicide aged 18 years and over.

Recommendation 6a: Ensure our local bereavement offer is culturally and ethnically appropriate for different

groups working with communities to develop resources and services.

Local SoBS groups exist to meet the needs and break the isolation experienced by those bereaved by suicide. It is
a self-help organisation that aims to provide a safe, confidential environment in which bereaved people can share
their experiences and feelings, so giving and gaining support from each other. It also strives to improve public
awareness and maintain contacts with many other statutory and voluntary organisations. Each local SoBS group
needs to have 3 trained volunteers to run a group and they must have been bereaved by suicide for at least 2 years.
Finding volunteers is a challenge given the commitmentinvolved. Each groupis also responsible for finding suitable
premises, funding itself, and following guidelines set by the national charity. This makes the group vulnerable, and we
have a role to support this group.

There is currently one SoBS group in Berkshire, in Wokingham but they often support people from further afield
where there is no closer group to join. The Wokingham SoBS group has been running for over 7 years, and its co-
ordinator is an active member of the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy Group. Numbers actively involved in the
SoBS group fluctuate, with an average attendance rate of 15 people pre-COVID-19 and an average of 12 people
attending the current virtual offer. The group has many recently bereaved members, but also members who were
bereaved many years ago and have not had the opportunity to talk before - usually because of the stigma which still
surrounds suicide.

Recommendation 6b: Continued support to the volunteer led local SoBS groups to be able to continue to offer a
peer-to-peer support service.

There is sometimes a tendency to assume that the impact of a suicide is confined to the close family and friends
of the person who died, but there can be repercussions throughout wider networks, communities, places of work
or study, and within services called upon to respond to a suicide in a professional capacity. In offering support to
those affected, it is important not to make assumptions which limit how widely information about support is shared.
People may identify with a suicide because of something they have in common with the person who died, without
necessarily having had recent or frequent contact with that person. Over 7,000 individuals contributed to a study
carried out by Suicide Bereavement UK, which illustrates this significant ripple effect®.

A range of national resources for people bereaved by suicide are available and are shared by our first responders

o McDonnell S, Hunt IM, Flynn S, Smith S, McGale B, Shaw J (2020). From Grief to Hope: The Collective Voice of those Bereaved or Affected by Suicide in the UK. Manchester:
University of Manchester. Available at: https://supportaftersuicide.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/From-Grief-to-Hope-Report-FINAL.pdf

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



19

across Berkshire to a suspected suicide, e.g. coroners, funeral directors, police, doctors and bereavement counselling
and support organisations. This includes ‘Help is at Hand’ a national publication which aims to provide people
affected by suicide with both emotional and practical support®, as well as several other useful resources.

Recommendation 6c: Building in bereavement support to extend to wider family members, friends and communities.

Specialist Suicide Bereavement Support

There is now specific investment in developing support for people who are bereaved by suicide within the NHS Long
Term Plan. Transformation funding has been issued to enable different parts of the country at different stages to
develop suicide bereavement support services, and this will reach all areas by 2023-24. Berkshire has been in receipt
of NHSE funding to develop suicide bereavement support since 2019-20 as part of the Berkshire Oxfordshire and
Buckinghamshire (BOB) Integrated Care System.

From the work of the Berkshire suicide prevention group we now have a specialist Bereaved by Suicide Support
Service in place which provides advocacy and support for those bereaved by suicide. Current support for Berkshire
residents bereaved by suicide includes the services of a Bereavement Liaison Co-ordinator within Thames Valley
Police. The Co-ordinator works with officers involved in gathering RTSS data and establishes early contact (with
consent) with bereaved individuals to offer a supportive presence. The Co-ordinator carries out an initial assessment
of need and provides practical advice. This role has created additional capacity within the police to provide an
accessible and consistent point of contact for individuals and families who may not be ready for signposting or
referral into local support services at initial contact but may require such in the future.

Local and ongoing practical and emotional bereavement support is provided by a Bereavement Liaison Supporter.
The Liaison Supporter will remain alongside the bereaved as they access other services, supporting referral and
fast tracking as appropriate, and maintaining a good overview of working relationships with other local providers.
Preparing people for media involvement and interest is a key element of this role, as well as supporting navigation
through the coroner’s court. Other areas of practical and emotional support are available, based on individual client
need.

The Berkshire Bereavement Liaison Support Service is currently provided by Victim Support and builds on an established
and successful model of support for people bereaved by homicide. Any Berkshire resident can access the service. Adults
are supported directly, and the service facilitates links to specialist children’s bereavement support services. A dedicated
member of Victim Support staff is the primary point of contact with the service, but clients can contact Victim Support 24/7
in the event of needing to talk to someone outside of the working hours of the project lead.

% HIAH Booklet. Support after suicide (2021) HIAH_Booklet_2021_V5-1-2.pdf (supportaftersuicide.org.uk) Last accessed 09/09/21

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

A recent evaluation of the various components of the BOB-wide service found that the most valued features were:

. A mechanism that connects families with services as soon as possible after the death

. Practical support and advocacy (e.g. around inquests, collecting belongings, media interest)

. Signposting to local services and organisations based on sound local knowledge

. Emotional support to deal with loss, trauma and feelings of isolation, exacerbation of existing health problems

and the emergence of mental health problems.

Suicide bereavement support will be re-commissioned from 2022 as a single service across the Thames Valley. This
will generate some economies of scale, and also build in some flexibility for local co-ordinators to support one
another across county boundaries to help manage peaks in demand.

The current commissioned services focus on meeting the needs of ‘close relatives’ of people who have died by
suicide. However, the providers have offered wider community support through forums and in response to some
specific requests. In re-commissioning the service, we will explore how to tap into such expertise and experience for
wider community benefitin future, whilst ensuring those in need of the one-to-one practical and emotional support

following a suicide can still access this in a timely manner.

Recommendation 6d: Continue to commission suicide bereavement support services and monitor its impact.

Support for those impacted by suicide in the workplace

There is recognition that staff may feel responsible for a suicide event, or not having done more to preventit. Although
these feelings are always misplaced, they can prolong the trauma if not managed effectively. Staff members may also
experience anger, flashbacks and post-traumatic stress.

Recommendation 6e: Explore training opportunities for colleagues and workplaces impacted by suicide.

Recommendation 6f: \Work with Thames Valley Police and other first responders to a suicide, to share appropriate
resources with employers.

Berkshire Suicide 57
Prevention Strategy



9

Glossary

Age-specific mortality rate
The total number of deaths per 100,000 people of an age group

Age-standardised mortality rate
A weighted average of the age-specific mortality rates per 100,000 people and standardised to the 2013 European
Standard Population. Age-standardisation allows for differences in the age structure of different populations and

therefore allow valid comparisons to be made between geographic areas, the sexes, and over time.

Registration delay
The difference between the date which a death occurred and the date which a death was registered

Statistical significance
The term“significant”refers to statistically significant changes or differences based on unrounded figures. Significance
has been determined using the 95% confidence intervals, where instances of non-overlapping confidence intervals

between figures indicate the difference is unlikely to have arisen from random fluctuation

Years of life lost
Years of life lost is a measure of premature mortality and gives an estimate of the length of time a person would
have lived had they not died prematurely. It can be used to compare the premature mortality experience of different

populations and quantify the impact on society from suicide.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Berkshire Wide Action Plan

This action plan is a continuously working document lead by the Suicide Prevention Steering Group who have
the ultimate responsibility for delivery. Timeframes and specific indicators are to be defined by the group. For the

purpose of this strategy the recommendations are listed below.

Priority
Area

Recommendation

Outcome

1.
Overarching
Aims

1.a) To continue to monitor the impact of
COVID-19 on suicide across the lifecourse through
RTSS data and respond to any identified trends.

Impact of COVID-19 on suicide across the lifecourse
further understood and trends responded to by the
Suicide Prevention Group.

1.b) To continue to monitor the wider trends
emerging from the impact of COVID-19 on
people’s mental health and suicide risk across
the lifecourse, and to support the system to take
action where required.

Impact of COVID-19 on mental health and suicide
risk further understood, support for the action taken
where required across the system in place, informing
the Suicide Prevention Group’s approach.

1.c) To undertake a Berkshire suicide audit.

Suicide risk and trends identified and analysed,
informing the Suicide Prevention Groups focus and
approach.

1.d) Undertake regular reviews of information,
resources and channels for people affected by
suicide

Accurate, high quality information, resources and
channels available for those affected by suicide.

1.e) Hold an annual multi-agency conference
on a range of topics to share information and
best practice and raise awareness to the risks for
suicide.

Knowledge and understanding of focus areas
improved. Awareness raising of focus areas.

1.f) Invite additional partners across the system
within Berkshire, including the voluntary and
community sector to join the Suicide Prevention
Group for improved cross-topic working.

The Suicide Prevention Group benefit from
further insight and knowledge from additional
organisations, informing their approach, and other
groups benefit from our expert input.

1.g) Set up sub-groups of the Suicide Prevention
Group, informed by local intelligence and data,
where there is a need to focus upon a risk factor or
group within the population.

Better understanding of, and potential reduction in
suicide risk for identified risk factors or groups within
the population.

2.b) Continued investment into the Be Well
campaign to encourage the importance of
looking after emotional wellbeing, in addition to
signposting to local mental health services and
support in order to prevent self-harm and suicide
in children, young people, and women.

2. 2.a) To raise awareness of the link between trauma | Link between trauma and adversity across the life course
Children and adversity, and suicide across the life course is clear and understood by partners, professionals and
and Young the voluntary and community sector.

People

Emotional wellbeing improved as a preventative
factor for children, young people and women's
suicide and self-harm risk.

2.c) Support the system to adopt a needs-led
approach for neurodiverse children and young
people, particularly in the prevention and early
intervention arena, e.g. in schools and the
community.

Neurodiverse children and young people pre-
diagnosis and supported and adaptations made for
their needs, reducing suicide risk.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



€9

Priority

A Recommendation Outcome
rea
2. 2.d) To explore improving data capture on sexual Improved understanding and insight into LGBTQ+
Children orientation for all ages in RTSS data and promote as a risk factor for suicide, informing the Suicide
and Young this across the suicide prevention system. Prevention Groups focus and approach.
People
(cont...) 2.e) To work with local organisations and charities | Improved insight and knowledge into the LGBTQ+
who work with the LGTBQ+ community on suicide | community and suicide prevention and risk,
prevention. informing the Suicide Prevention Groups focus and
approach.
2.f) To raise awareness of the impact of the Improved knowledge and understanding on the
transitional period (children moving into impact of the transitional period on mental health
adulthood) on the mental health impact and the and suicide risk for children and young people for
risks of suicide during this period for children and | partners, professionals and the education sector.
young people.
3. 3.a) Working with Mental Health Support Teams School pupils at risk of self-harm or self-harming
Self-harm (MHSTs), ensure a continued focus on the have improved coping skills, support and resilience.
prevention of self-harm by increasing resilience
and general coping skills and support for those
who self-harm.
3.b )Decrease the stigma related to self-harm and | Those who self-harm feel able to seek help with less
encourage help seeking behaviour and self-care. fear of stigma and have improved self-care.
3.c) Help friends, family and professionals Friends, family and professionals are able to identify
understand the physical and emotional signs of and understand self-harm, how they can help and
self-harm, how they can help and where they can | where to get support.
get support.
Those who self-harm feel better supported by
professionals, their friends and family.
3.d) Explore the impact of self-harm on parents Further understanding of the impact of self-harm on
and siblings on their own mental health and parents and sibling’s mental health and wellbeing,
wellbeing. allowing future interventions into how to support
these groups to be well informed.
3.e) Explore means to improve local intelligence The Suicide Prevention Group able to respond
and data on self-harm to be regularly reviewed at | to trends in self-harm and take action where
the Berkshire Suicide Prevention Steering Group. appropriate.
4. 4.a) Link with the BOB and Frimley local maternity | Awareness raised of the suicide risk in the perinatal
Female systems on suicide risks in the perinatal period period for local maternity systems.
Suicides

Local maternity systems aware of the work of the
Suicide Prevention Group.

4.b) To explore data collection on the perinatal
period; risk factors and the link to suicide including
data captured in the RTSS.

Improved understanding and insight into the risk

factors and link to suicide within the perinatal period.

4.c) Promote the need for clear pathways and
knowledge exchange between domestic abuse
and mental health services.

Domestic abuse services and mental health
services have an improved understanding of the
links between domestic abuse and suicide and are
confident in utilising the pathways between the
services.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Priority Recommendation Outcome
Area
4, 4.d) Improve data collection of domestic abuse Improved understanding and insight into domestic
Female data in RTSS. abuse as a risk factor for suicide within Berkshire.
Suicides
(cont...) 4.e) Include domestic abuse indicators in the Improved understanding and insight into domestic
Berkshire suicide audit to better understand the abuse as a risk factor for suicide within Berkshire.
link between domestic abuse and suicide
4.f) Provide information to domestic abuse Improved knowledge and understanding of suicide
services on how to respond to concerns where risk and self-harm for domestic abuse professionals
clients may be self-harming or considering suicide | for all groups affected.
(whether the client is a victim, survivor, perpetrator | Clients within the domestic abuse services who are
or child or young person) at risk of self-harm or suicide feel better supported
and able to access the services they need.
5. 5.a) Work with colleagues to raise awareness of The risk between debt, mental health and suicide
Economic the risk between debt, mental health and suicide risk is further understood by frontline professionals
Factors risk among frontline professionals and the wider and the wider public.

public. Awareness raising needs to;

- reduce the stigma of ‘being in debt’and signpost
to access debt and benefit advice and support.
this information also needs to be shared with
frontline professionals

- encourage people in debt to reach out for help
to reduce impact on mental health

- encourage people with poor mental health to
reach out for debt advice

The stigma of ‘being in debt’is reduced for both
frontline workers and the wider public, therefore
potentially increasing the number of those seeking
help.

Frontline professionals feel confident to signpost to
debt and benefit advice and support, encourage
people to reach out for help, and for debt advice,
therefore potentially increasing the number of those
seeking help.

5.b) Support frontline professionals to feel
comfortable about talking about debt and
financial problems and the link to poor mental
health and suicide, and what support is available.

Frontline professionals feel comfortable and able to
talk about debt and financial problems and can link
this to poor mental health and suicide, and support
available.

Those with poor mental health benefit from
accessing debt and financial support where needed
following conversations with frontline professionals,
reducing suicide risk.

5.c) Support Berkshire local authorities with a
single point of access information site around
money matters.

There is a single point of access for information
on money matters, allowing for up to date and
consistent information being accessible to all.

5.d) Ensure compassionate debt collection. Make
sure the process is supportive and aims to steer
residents to places that can provide help and
support. Support vulnerable groups at increased
risk of debt including people with long-term
conditions or disabilities.

Reduction in stress and anxiety for those who are
facing debt collection.

Support and help highlighted to those facing debt
collection, reducing stress and anxiety.

5.e) Work with key partners to actively promote
services that provide help around navigating the
benefits system and potentially increasing people’s
incomes.

Improved understanding of navigating the benefits
system, therefore potentially increasing incomes and
reducing financial stress, reducing suicide risk.

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy




5.
Economic
Factors
(cont...)

5.f) Make sure that all parts of the health service
where patients showing suicidal intent first make
contact, are signposted or triaged appropriately
using a process that includes debts and other
economic stresses as risk factors.

Identification of debt and economic stresses as

risk factors upon first contact, therefore allowing
professionals to have a better-informed approach to
support, signposting and guidance, reducing suicide
risk.

Self-help or advisors for debts and practical issues
(housing, relationships) highlighted to patients,
therefore potentially reducing anxiety and stress.

5.g) Work with system partners on the early
identification and support of people who are at
increased risk of debt and financial concerns (e.g.
unemployed or people with long-term conditions)
as early as possible and offer effective support to
manage personal finances through appropriate
referral pathways.

Reduction in debt and financial stresses as a risk
factor for suicide for those who are at an increased
risk.

5.h) Monitor local data and intelligence on levels
of problem gambling within Berkshire and its link
to suicide.

Improved understanding of the levels of problem
gambling and its link to suicide within Berkshire,
informing the Suicide Prevention Group's approach.

6.
Bereaved
by Suicide

¥9

6.a) Ensure our local bereavement offer is
culturally and ethnically appropriate for different
groups within communities to develop resources
and services.

The local bereavement offer is available and
accessible for all groups within Berkshire and has
accessible resources and services.

Different groups within communities feel the
services are culturally and ethnically appropriate.

6.b) Continued support to the volunteer led local
SoBS groups to be able to continue to offer a peer-
to-peer support service.

Those bereaved by suicide can access and benefit
from a peer-to-peer support service.

6.c) Building in bereavement support to extend to
wider family members, friends and communities.

Wider family members, friends and communities are
able to access bereavement support, and feel able
and supported in doing so, potentially improving
their emotional and mental wellbeing.

6.d) Continue to commission suicide bereavement
support services and monitor its impact.

Bereavement support services are available and
accessible across Berkshire, providing consistent
support for those bereaved.

6.e) Explore training opportunities for staff
impacted by suicide.

Training for staff impacted by suicide in place and
being delivered where appropriate, potentially
improving emotional and mental wellbeing for staff
following suicide.

6f) Work with Thames Valley Police and other
first responders to a suicide to share appropriate
resources with employers

Employers able to better support their staff who
have been affected by suicide.

62 Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy

Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy



Berkshire Suicide
Prevention Strategy
2021-2026

65



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 32.

\
Berkshire West

Integrated Care Partnership

ICP Unified Executive Chair’'s Report— October 2021

Title: ICP Unified Executive update

Programme / Project Julian Emms, Chief Executive, Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation
Sponsor (SRO): Trust

Author(s): Emma Gaudreau, ICP Programme Team Officer

To brief BOB Clinical Commissioning Committee in common on key
Purpose: issues discussed at the Berkshire West ICP Unified Executive on 14th
October 2021.

Previously considered

by: N/A

The key points to note from the ICP Unified Executive on 14t October are as follows:

Update from BOB System Leaders Group

The call was informed the ICS Chair has been appointed and is currently awaiting approval for sign
off with the Secretary of State.

The Chief Executive of RBH gave an update on Elective Care, advising the programme board are
working with a clear agenda on three key issues. The focus is to support Bucks Healthcare, ICS
helping to transfer patients waiting for operations into other areas. Review of access and choice;
how different models can work; with the impact; is taking place, offering mutual aid across the
authorities.

It was discussed if there is a need to analyse why people are refusing appointments, reviewing if
this is especially patients in lower income or ethnical groups. The GP Clinical Lead advised there
was a need to work with GP’s so they can explain to their patients at the point of referral what
their options are and the decision about sending to centres, and to help GP’s deal with any
complaints patients may have.

Feedback from ICP Leadership workshop

The Head of Planning and Transformation updated the call on the ICP Leadership workshop which
discussed next steps on place development system priorities for 2022/23. The workshop discussed
the work done to date, and discussion on the best fit for the PBP into the ICS. Members are keen
to keep these meetings going. The next one is scheduled for January.

Page1of2

67



It was agreed that there is a need for clear communication around the ICP responsibilities. It was
agreed that a clear communication around the changes needs to be made public.

Next steps are in place to discuss the ICP priorities for 2022/23 for Berkshire West, including
structure, resources — meeting to be held on 2"d November to discuss and agree.

ICP programme board review

It was agreed the current boards have been valuable and that they will need to be reviewed again
with the ICB changes, within 6 months.

Concerns were raised of how to manage work plans across each board. Main recommendations
for Joint Commissioning and PHDDB to step down in current format. The Director of System
Partnerships is progressing the work to confirm priorities, structure and resources.

The Head of Planning and Transformation advised they will review the governance when we’ve

received the priorities and work through in terms of resource and accountability to ensure no
duplications of work and have the visibility across the boards which is key.

System performance

The Chief Executive of RBH gave further background on the paper and highlighted they are actively
looking and addressing the longest waiting list for patients, and advised this will take the
remainder of the year. The supporting statistics showed good progress against past statistics.

Recommendation

BOB CCC to note feedback from ICP Unified Executive Group in October 2021.

Page 2 of 2

68




69

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH WELLBEING BOARD

Forward Programme from June 2021

Please note that the forward programme is a ‘live’ document and subject to change at short notice.

The order in which items are listed at this stage may not reflect the order they subsequently appear on the agenda.

All Meetings start at 5pm in the Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, unless otherwise stated.

‘€€ Wa)| epusaby



0L

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH WELLBEING BOARD FORWARD PROGRAMME 2021/22

RESPONSIBLE | CATEGORY
DATE OF ITEM PURPOSE OF REPORT REASON FOR OFFICER /
MEETING CONSIDERATION CONTACT
OFFICER
Better Care Fund | Submission Submission Lewis Willing
9 December | Designing our Update Update Performance
2021 Neighbourhoods
Updates from the | Update Update Director Adult
ICP Unified Services
Executive
Strategy into Update Update Wellbeing Board | Performance
Action
Covid Update Update Update Public Health
Forward Standing item. Consider items for Democratic
Programme future consideration Services
RESPONSIBLE | CATEGORY
DATE OF ITEM PURPOSE OF REPORT REASON FOR OFFICER /
MEETING CONSIDERATION CONTACT
OFFICER
10 February | Designing our Update Update Performance
2022 Neighbourhoods
Updates from the | Update Update Director Adult
ICP Unified Services
Executive
Strategy into Update Update Wellbeing Board | Performance
Action
Covid update Update Update Public Health
Forward Standing item. Consider items for Democratic
Programme future consideration Services




RESPONSIBLE

CATEGORY

DATE OF ITEM PURPOSE OF REPORT REASON FOR OFFICER/
MEETING CONSIDERATION CONTACT
OFFICER
14 April 2022 | Designing our Update Update Performance
Neighbourhoods
Updates from the | Update Update Director Adult
ICP Unified Services
Executive
Strategy into Update Update Wellbeing Board | Performance
Action
Covid Update Update Update Public Health
Forward Standing item. Consider items for Democratic
Programme future consideration Services

\I
— To be scheduled:

e BOB ICS Plan
e Children and Young people’s partnership priorities
e Review of sub committees and priorities




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	24. Minutes of Previous Meeting
	30. Refresh of the Berkshire West Local Transformation Plan, improving the response to Children and Young Peoples Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health
	31. Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2021-2026
	Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2021-2026

	32. ICP Unified Executive Chair’s Report – October 2021
	33. Forward Programme

